# POLITECNICO DI TORINO Master's Degree in Electronics Engineering



# Study the feasibility of a system that detects the presence of people in hotel rooms to save energy when the rooms are vacated

Master's Degree Thesis

Supervisors:

Prof. Mihai T. LAZARESCU Prof. Luciano LAVAGNO Candidate:

Daniel Felipe Orozco Lopez

#### Acknowledgements

This master's degree has been an unique experience. The pandemic turned it into a journey full of emotions, challenges, sad moments, and, of course, joys. At one point, I considered not continuing, but the unconditional support of my family and my girlfriend was what allowed me to move forward.

I want to express my gratitude to all the people who have accompanied me through this stage of my life. First, I would like to thank Professor Mihai, the director of this thesis, who trusted me from the beginning and, despite the obstacles, continuously supported me. His valuable guidance, corrections and suggestions were essential for this work. I also extend my gratitude to the co-director, Professor Lavagno, for his constant contributions, providing an objective and enriching perspective. Both have instilled in me a passion for research, a source of personal growth and knowledge.

Outside the academic environment, I must acknowledge the immense support of my family. To my mother and father, who have always been by my side throughout my education, especially in the most challenging moments. To my brother and colleague, with whom I share a passion for electronics, and who is always willing to listen and advise me, and to my sister, a future colleague, whose unconditional love has always been a source of strength.

To my girlfriend, thank you for your unwavering confidence in my abilities and for being my pillar during the toughest times. And finally, to my grandparents, always attentive and concerned about my academic journey. Although three of them will not see me graduate in life, I know that from heaven, they will be celebrating this achievement with me.

In Loving Memory of Rosa, Carmenza and Carlos

# Contents

1	Intr	oducti	on	1
<b>2</b>	Stat	te of A	rt	<b>2</b>
	2.1	Overvi	ew of Indoor Human Presence Detection	2
	2.2	Energy	Efficiency and Retrofitting Challenges in Hotels	3
	2.3	Privac	y Concerns and Non-Invasive Solutions	5
		2.3.1	Invasive Technologies and Privacy Issues	5
		2.3.2	Non-Invasive Solutions: A Focus on ToF and Other Technologies	6
	2.4	Potent	ial Hazard Detection Applications	7
		2.4.1	Detection of Environmental Hazards	7
		2.4.2	Fire and Smoke Detection	7
		2.4.3	Fall Detection and Occupant Safety	8
		2.4.4	Structural Integrity and Equipment Failure Detection	8
	2.5	Time o	of Flight (ToF) Technology	9
		2.5.1	Principles of ToF Sensors	9
		2.5.2	Applications in Human Detection	11
		2.5.3	Comparison With Other Detection Technologies	12
	2.6	VL531	7CX Time-of-Flight Sensor	13
	2.0	261	Principle of Operation	14
		2.0.1 2.6.2	Technical Specifications	14
		2.0.2 2.6.3	Ranges and Accuracy	15
		2.0.0 2.6.4	Block Diagram VL53L7CX	15
		2.0.1 2.6.5	Use Cases and Applications	16
		2.0.0 2.6.6	Performance in Various Environments	17
		2.0.0		11
3	Met	hodolo	Dgy	18
	3.1	System	natic Literature Review (SLR)	18
		3.1.1	Search Strategy	19
		3.1.2	Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	19
		3.1.3	Data Extraction and Synthesis	19
	3.2	Compa	arative Analysis Framework	20
		3.2.1	Evaluation Criteria	20
4	Con	nparati	ive Analysis of Detection Techniques	<b>20</b>
	4.1	WiFi .		21
		4.1.1	Detection Principles	22
		4.1.2	Accuracy and Robustness	22
		4.1.3	Scalability and Complexity	22
		4.1.4	Cost and Installation Requirements	22
		4.1.5	Privacy considerations	22
		4.1.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room	23
	4.2	UWB .		23
		4.2.1	Detection Principles	23
		4.2.2	Accuracy and Robustness	23

	4.2.3	Scalability and Complexity		. 23
	4.2.4	Costs and Installation Requirements		. 23
	4.2.5	Privacy Considerations		. 23
	4.2.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		. 24
4.3	Blueto	ooth		. 24
	4.3.1	Detection Principles		. 24
	4.3.2	Accuracy and Robustness		. 24
	4.3.3	Scalability and Complexity		. 24
	4.3.4	Costs and Installation Requirements		. 24
	4.3.5	Privacy Considerations	•	24
	4.3.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		. 24
4.4	RFID	(Radio Frequency Identification)		. 25
	4.4.1	Detection Principles	•	25
	4.4.2	Accuracy and Robustness		25
	4.4.3	Scalability and Complexity		25
	4.4.4	Cost and Installation Requirements		. 25
	4.4.5	Privacy Considerations		25
	4.4.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		26
4.5	Zigbee		•	26
1.0	4.5.1	Detection Principles		. 26
	4.5.2	Accuracy and Robustness		26
	4.5.3	Scalability and Complexity		. 26
	4.5.4	Cost and Installation Requirements		. 27
	4.5.5	Privacy Considerations		. 27
	4.5.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		. 27
4.6	Sensor	or LiDAR		. 27
-	4.6.1	Detection Principles		. 27
	4.6.2	Accuracy and Robustness		. 28
	4.6.3	Scalability and Complexity		. 28
	4.6.4	Cost and Installation Requirements		. 28
	4.6.5	Privacy Considerations		. 28
	4.6.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		. 28
4.7	Passiv	ve Infrared Sensors (PIR)		. 29
	4.7.1	Detection Principles		. 29
	4.7.2	Accuracy and Robustness		. 29
	4.7.3	Scalability and Complexity		. 29
	4.7.4	Cost and Installation Requirements		. 29
	4.7.5	Privacy Considerations		. 30
	4.7.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		. 30
4.8	Ultras	sonic Sensors		. 30
	4.8.1	Detection Principles		. 30
	4.8.2	Accuracy and Robustness		. 30
	4.8.3	Scalability and Complexity		. 30
	4.8.4	Cost and Installation Requirements		. 31
	4.8.5	Privacy Considerations		. 31
	4.8.6	Risk of Detection Outside the Room		. 31
	-			

	4.9	Radar	31
		4.9.1 Detection Principles	31
		4.9.2 Accuracy and Robustness	31
		4.9.3 Scalability and Complexity	32
		4.9.4 Cost and Installation Requirements	32
		4.9.5 Privacy Considerations	32
		4.9.6 Risk of Detection Outside the Room	32
	4.10	Comparative Table of Detection Technologies	32
<b>5</b>	Ana	lysis of Commercially Available Devices	33
	5.1	Philips Hue Motion Sensor	34
	5.2	Ecolink Z-Wave Plus Motion Detector	34
	5.3	Honeywell IS3050A	35
	5.4	Aqara Human Presence Sensor FP1	35
	5.5	Nest Cam IQ Indoor	36
	5.6	Smartmat	36
	5.7	Velodyne LiDAR VLP-16	37
6	Cas	e Study: Hotel Room Implementation	37
	6.1	Selected Sensor	37
	6.2	Installation and Configuration	39
	6.3	Data Collection	41
	6.4	Performance Evaluation	45
		6.4.1 Test Environment and Conditions	45
		$6.4.2  \text{Test Criteria} \dots \dots$	46
		6.4.3 Test Description and Results	46
7	Disc	cussion of Results	50
	7.1	Summary of Findings	50
	7.2	Challenges and Trade-offs	52
	7.3	Opportunities for Future Research	52
8	Con	clusion	53
	8.1	Implications for the Hotel Industry	53
	8.2	Summary of Contributions	53
	8.3	Recommendations	54
	8.4	Final Considerations	54

# List of Figures

1	Use of TOF technology. $[29]$
2	VL53L7CX Time-of-Flight Sensor. [37]
3	System FoV and Exclusion Zone Description. [37]
4	Block Diagram VL53L7CX. [37]
5	Satellite Trilateration. [42]
6	Philips Hue Motion Sensor [88]
7	Honeywell IS3050A [90]
8	Nest Cam IQ Indoor [92]
9	Velodyne Lida VLP-16 [94]
10	P-NUCLEO-53L7A1, Evaluation Kit. [95]
11	X-NUCLEO-53L7A1, Expansion Board. [95]
12	NUCLEO-F401RE, Development Board. [95]
13	Sensor Configuration
14	Sensor Location
15	Firmware Folder
16	Smart Presence Detection Firmware
17	Smart Presence Detection EVK GUI
18	Smart Presence Detection GUI Configuration
19	Smart Presence Detection EVK Interface
20	Webcam Configuration
21	Smart Presence Detection EVK Interface and Webcam Image 43
22	Log Data Configuration
23	Data Folder
24	Load Dataset Configuration
25	Loaded Dataset Interface
26	Results Entering the Room
27	Results Entering the Bathroom
28	Results Re-entering the Sensor's View
29	Results Preparing to Leave
30	Results Leaving the Room

# 1. Introduction

Nowadays, people's needs have led to the study of new technologies and tools to solve problems. One of the problems that has been studied for decades has been the issue of position quantification, trajectories to follow in order to reach a desired place, among other questions that have been asked over time. Faced with these uncertainties, many tools have emerged to help answer and advance with these questions, such as maps, the development of geographic coordinate systems and one of the most prominent lately, is the popular GPS (Global Positioning System). This particular technology has been developed to such an extent that every smartphone has this type of system, therefore, each person can have his or her location in real time, from anywhere in the world. [1]

But what happens if you are looking for the position of a person in a hostile environment, which is not common for GPS, such as closed spaces that are difficult to access for any person or contain a small space to work such as caves, or in work environments such as buildings, workrooms, food production processes, among others. Global positioning systems begin to show their limitations in this type of adverse situations, phenomena such as Multipath begin to occur (phenomenon that occurs when radio signals are received by the antennas by two or more paths and this at different times. This can cause problems when receiving the signals, as they can interact with each other. [2] This phenomenon itself occurs due to the multiple structures or surfaces on which the signal can be reflected, so in structures such as buildings, houses, warehouses, among others, the system would not work in the most appropriate way. Evidently, the development that has been had for the location in closed environments has gone further and have created systems like the differential GPS, which is a system that provides modifications to the receivers of GPS in order to deliver a greater precision to the calculation of position. But these systems raise its price to unsuspected levels, leaving it out of reach for the average user.

These limitations have led to the development of new technologies and more robust methods, which allow to cross out all the errors that are found when studying and developing global positioning systems, such as the location in enclosed spaces which previously had no provision for this, due to the various technologies that have been developed as time passed, such as the implementation of infrared systems, the development of wifi, the use of Bluetooth, as well as lesser known technologies such as UWB, RFID, WLAN, ultrasound.

A possible application for this technology is when you want to track certain objects that are inside an apartment, hotel, warehouse, house, palletizing plant. As well as human and here the challenge is that, to be able to indicate to the operator who is in a hotel, if the parts that the hotel has are unoccupied, in order to have an energy efficiency, either to inspect it. That the cleaning operator knows if a guest is inside the room and thus be able to perform the corresponding tasks or the simple fact that a guest has already left the room, extra taxes that can be made to the service charge if this has not left the establishment at the appropriate time, to generate some statistics of the guests and their behavior of stay in the rooms among others.

As mentioned in the previous paragraph, it is very important to address the issue of energy efficiency in confined spaces or enclosed spaces, but if these lead to energy expenditure by people or subcontractors, so the power to generate a plan or implement technologies to these, are of paramount importance, since today the power to generate an awareness of the environment seems essential. In hotels is an issue of great importance, due to the large

expenditure of energy that this has, either by issues of lights and systems on constantly, or in areas such as air conditioning, lighting, water heating, and use of appliances, are of paramount importance, due to what currently arises from environmental awareness.

The implementation of new technologies to the systems in closed spaces is essential, due to the incidents that can occur within this, and for some time has been that in every hotel establishment, it is essential to have smoke detectors which can try to fight in the first instance any incident with respect to fire. [3] But, what would happen if, the inhabitants of this sector are located in their rooms? It is also important to have this information to know the capacity of the hotel and the number of people in the rooms in case of a traumatic situation such as a fire or the investigation of possible situations which could bring disasters both in the rooms and in the inhabitants of the rooms.

World Tourism Organization (UNWTO) [4] indicates that among the most important implementations that can be developed in the hotel environment is the implementation of new technologies, which bring energy savings between 20 to 40 %, all thanks to some practices implemented by people, but also largely to the new technologies that have been implemented over time. World Tourism Organization (UNWTO) [4]

But not only the power to implement technologies is important when creating and generating solutions to any situation, you also have to evaluate the context, for this situation the privacy is essential, not to incur in the privacy of the people who temporarily inhabit a room is a priority at the time of inhabiting these places, having as a priority in the creation and use of technologies in confined places to maintain the greatest protection for people, not using cameras, or recording situations which can greatly compromise the person.

The main objective of this project is to choose and analyze a device to be able to observe the viability and development of people within a hotel, thus reducing the energy expenditure that is had when performing this task. For the above mentioned, the following specific objectives will be taking into account:

- To generate a state of the art, which aims to correlate the previous work already done.
- To indicate until today the different devices on the market that are available for purchasing, what are their limitations, what are the accuracies, updated costs and installation.
- To address the specific case study and through a chosen sensor taking into account all the points mentioned above.
- To generate experimental tests with the technology to be used, having as parameter the hotel industry.

In order to generate a discussion of findings and conclusion, taking into account limitations, environmental needs and cost effectiveness.

# 2. State of Art

# 2.1. Overview of Indoor Human Presence Detection

Wireless indoor human presence detection technologies have developed in many ways, with various types of sensors being created to fit under different contexts. Technologies

such as Wifi, UWB (Ultra Wide Band), Bluetooth, RFID, Zigbee, Lidar or time of flight (ToF) have been used to establish some human presence or activity detection. Each of these technologies has some characteristics, pros and cons that determine their suitability for a given environment and application. While some technologies like Wi-Fi and Bluetooth can take advantage of already deployed infrastructures, some other technologies like Lidar and ToF provide better accuracy but are likely to be more complicated deployments.

Generally speaking, these technologies function by having a signal sent and or received whereby triangulation, signal strength, and time delay methods can be used to provide a general idea of the location of the people. Any of the technologies will be selected taking into account the expected level of accuracy, the size of the system, the costs, the privacy issues, etc.

Section 4 provides some features of these technologies focusing on how they work and how they are accurate.

# 2.2. Energy Efficiency and Retrofitting Challenges in Hotels

Most postindustrial and progressive establishments tend to focus on energy efficiency and power conservation which helps in minimizing both operational expenses and the negative effect of those operations. Detecting the feasibility of installation of the human presence detecting systems when the rooms are not occupied is the core thesis of this paper. In recent years, hotel businesses have employed numerous programs and technologies aimed at improving their level of energy efficiency, which resulted in both lower costs and better environmental protection.

Occupancy sensors such as Time of Flight technology based or Passive Infrared (PIR) sensors have been becoming the new trend in technology. The sensors determine whether a space is occupied or not and this information is relayed to the systems such as lighting, heating, ventilation, air conditioning, etc... which manage these settings. Such measures reduce pollution in the environment as energy is only consumed when it is needed. hen necessary, significantly reducing waste.

Research studies suggest that including occupancy sensors allows for reducing energy use ages in hotel facilities by as much as 30%. [5] This not only helps the hotel's environment consciousness, but also becomes profitability by a tremendous value overtime. Also, several hotels have reported the use of Energy Management Systems (EMS) that enable them to monitor and manage energy usage throughout the hotel properly. These systems focus on minimizing energy usage of hotels in all segments such as rooms and public areas. With the help of these systems working together with occupancy sensors, optimizations of heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems can be achieved that result in saving a lot of energy. Recent studies have shown the implementation of EMS in hotels can also reduce energy use by an extra 20\% in addition to that derived from the use of occupancy sensors.[6]

Another major development in this area has been the provision of energy efficient Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) for indoor use embedded in motion and occupancy sensors to allow lights on only when people are present. Led bulbs are ultra efficient, up to 75% more energy efficient compared to the conventional incandescent ones and have a much longer life. [7]

With the help of these lights configured with occupancy sensors, hotels can make the utmost Easier management of energy consumption, while ensuring that lights will shut off automatically whenever the rooms are unoccupied. Besides economic measures, the safety

of guests and personnel is a perennial concern in the hospitality industry. The structure of fire safety systems is one area in which the advancement of technology has caused significant development. Modern fire alarms are now equipped with early detection devices, including smoke and heat detectors, which have been able to advance sensors that can sense specific gases and heat levels associated with fires. Such systems are more precise and swifter than their predecessors, enabling shorter response time and greater efficiency in the actual fire detection. In the USA in 2022, there were over 8.2 million fire department calls of which around 1.5 million incidents were treated as fire or fire related calls, resulting in most loss of property and life. Almost half of these fires, more than thirty percent, occurred in a confined or enclosed occupiable structure such as a hotel. [8]

The advent of intelligent fire detection systems not only brings about safety measures but also makes a step forward in the conservation of energy since automatic systems manage energy consumption more efficiently. To conclude, implementing such technologies as occupancy sensors, EMS or automated LED lighting systems assists hotels in not only increasing their energy efficiency levels but also gaining respect from their guests through provision of green and ergonomic spaces. The attention of this research to the implementation of a system that identifies people present in the hotel room is consonant with these modern strategies of energy efficiency and brings evident economic and ecological benefits.

There are various issues that require careful consideration in the process of retrofitting hotels to incorporate new technologies and increase energy efficiency. One of the main hurdles is the adoption of new technology since many hotels were built decades ago and were not necessarily benefited from these technologies which impact on the age old electrical and plumbing systems as well as the entire building in terms of remodeling to allow installation of advanced energy management systems like occupancy sensors, smart thermostats and automated lights. However, the hotel retrofitting process can be expensive and prolonged considering the number of renovations that require disruption of regular hotel activities. [9] Adding insult to injury, retrofitting presents financial challenges that discourage majority of the hotel operators but more particularly the small-sized operators due to the required initial cost of such improvements. For the U.S. Green Building Council [10], the cost for patching a building varies but can be between 20 and 100 dollars for each building area with the only factor influencing cost being the specific retrofit patch needed which also ties into the cost of renovations. This kind of financier arrangement discourages hotel owners from carrying out renovations that are due and that would have otherwise resulted in energy savings.

Besides these economic constraints, retrofitting often creates interferences in the processes within the hotels which affects the experiences of the guests and can in turn affect the revenue. Other construction activities, system additions, and renovations might necessitate the closure of specific rooms or general common areas for a certain period which can result in decreased bookings or displeasure from guests who expect to use the facilities without interruptions during their visit. There are planning and communication strategies that would help avoid such disturbances, however, there remains a constant difficulty in achieving success within the renovations and maintaining efficiency whilst being operational. [11]

Furthermore, there are some additional barriers as well resulting from the incorporation of new technologies into the already existing systems. However, engagement with a second option creates a mixture of old systems plus modern functionality in most hotels which presents issues on compatibility. For illustration, attaching occupancy sensors like the VL53L7CX to existing building management systems may require outside assistance and

considerable effort to ensure effective operations and information exchange between systems. Staffing training becomes equally important for workers to be able to interact with such technologies. [12]

Regulatory compliance is critical to the art of hospitality as it guarantees the operation of hotels within the legal boundaries that have been set up to protect guests and staff members and enhance safety as well as environmentally friendly practices. Construction codes, regulatory conditions and safety standards, it is a reflective practice of delivering safe and comfortable accommodations. [13]

Finally, the retrofitting challenges must be within the limits which would go towards the sustainability goals as well as basic modern comforts of guests. Travelers are now more aware of the environmental concerns and expect the hotels to be environmentally friendly. Such heightened awareness adds further complications to owners of hotels who must consider the costs and other aspects of retrofitting against the expectations of their guests' sustainability. [13] Those hotels which in a successful manner deploy energy-efficient technologies and adhere to the trends can enhance their market image and attract eco-friendly travelers. Overall, overcoming these retrofitting challenges is important for the hotels aiming at improving their energy efficiency without compromising on the quality of the guest experience and operational performance of the hotel.

# 2.3. Privacy Concerns and Non-Invasive Solutions

When human detection modules come into play in confined spaces such as hotel rooms, privacy becomes a critical issue. Many detection systems, including the most common ones, which are cameras and microphones, are likely to raise such issues because they enable collecting sensitive details which can be intrusive to space. Thus, there is a need to look for such systems which can detect individuals efficiently but would not be violating privacy in the process.

### 2.3.1. Invasive Technologies and Privacy Issues

It is for instance possible to suggest that cameras, audio recorders, certain bio-metric sensors, and possibly some other technologies are very useful in identifying human activities, but their implementation also mostly contradicts human privacy. For example, cameras capture every detail of what a particular individual does and where he goes but also photographs things that should not be photographed, thus creating possible ethical and legal issues. Secret video recording of monitoring systems in private spheres like the inside of a hotel room is often considered as very embarrassing, thus causing unnecessary tension or phobia of being on constant watch. Continuous visual surveillance poses dangers of not only invading personal privacy, but also as risk to the subject as loss of confidential and sensitive footage could take place. [14]

Similarly, audio recording devices are capable of detect sound and conversations in detail, as it may contain and collect information that is intrusive. In exceptional situations where privacy is most desired such are hotel rooms, these systems are often regarded as excessive. Bio-metric technologies, like facial recognition or fingerprint scanning also face challenges of the same nature. They can accurately detect and identify a person, and it is easy to see how this type of information might cut across the expectations of privacy guests

go with to a hotel.[15] This aggregation of sensitive biological data is rather alarming and one may feel concerned as to the protection, usage, sharing or abuse of the collected data, hence rendering these solutions unsuitable in many instances within the hospitality sector.

Considering these challenges, non-invasive invasions like Time of Flight (ToF) sensors or Passive Infrared (PIR) sensors provide reasonable alternatives. These technologies guarantee high reliability in the detection of human beings or their activities without disclosing any individual's characteristic or identifiable trait which is needed in the detection of presence; hence privacy is not violated. Such invasive methods do not record or handle personally identifiable information, and this significantly lowers the probability of breach of privacy and exposure of information. Accordingly, these sensors are most suited for use in places with high level of privacy requirements, like hotel rooms.

# 2.3.2. Non-Invasive Solutions: A Focus on ToF and Other Technologies

Apart from avoiding complication, privacy interference, these methods provide accurate identification of a human being. Of these, Time of Flight (ToF) is preferred since it can determine a person's presence without visually or physically identifiable information and features which are lacking in some of the other technologies. A ToF sensor works by pulsating infrared light and measuring the time it takes to return the light to the sensor, thus creating accurate distance measurements. This way, only distance data is collected making ToF appropriate for places like hotel rooms where subject privacy is required. [16] Many new studies reveal that systems based on ToF have a good potential for detecting room occupation and performing movement analysis while preserving the privacy of the people present in the room. [17]

Another non-invasive technology which has a good potential is Ultra-Wideband (UWB) which utilizes low energy short radio waves for movement and presence detection in being on active areas within. UWB has a high degree of accuracy in small spaces, and is able to go through barriers, making it helpful in locating individuals without requiring cameras or instruments, which can be intrusive. UWB systems can measure the time difference of signal reflections, similar to ToF, but are enhanced by a larger range in detecting minor movements like that of breathing. UWB also provides minimal risks to privacy because of the fact that it does not record any personal identifiable information. [18]

Radio Frequency (RF) sensing is another non-invasive technology focusing on the presence detection. RF systems operate by detecting alterations in the strength of a signal caused by its reflection from objects or individuals in a room. RF signals are capable of detecting motion and presence through the walls, making it very suitable and non-sensitive. RF sensing like UWB is devoid of images or sounds; hence there is an extra sense of privacy. On the other hand, RF may be less accurate in distinguishing between objects and people, depending on the environment. [19]

Zigbee, a low-power wireless communication technology, can also be employed for human detection. Zigbee sensors typically use signal strength measurements (RSSI) to determine whether a person is present in a room. Although Zigbee is less precise than ToF or UWB, its low cost and energy efficiency make it a popular choice for large-scale installations in smart buildings. Moreover, because Zigbee sensors do not record visual or audio data, they present minimal privacy concerns. [20]

Another technology that can be used to detect a human is low power Zigbee wireless

communication technology. In the case of Zigbee, typically use signal strength measurements (RSSI) to determine whether a person is present in a room. Though being less accurate than ToF or UWB, the affordability and energy conservative aspects of Zigbee have suited for being deployed in smart buildings at scale. Additionally, Zigbee sensors do not capture visual or audio data which raises the privacy concerns very low. [20]

By concentrating on non-invasive technologies such as ToF, UWB, RF and Zigbee, it is feasible to create a human detection system with good reliability, plausible deniability since it has high non-invasiveness, and due to high accuracy, can be relied upon. Each of these technologies employ a tradeoff between accuracy and degree of invasiveness, therefore these technologies are applicable in those places such as hotel rooms where the privacy of individuals is of concern. A system in which ToF technology is incorporated to give high precision together with a modified UWB and RF crosses would be the most effective in any detection system as it limits the data collected without compromising on detection strength.

# 2.4. Potential Hazard Detection Applications

Sensor technology serves not only the objective of detecting a person in a room but is also highly useful in ensuring that potential hazards in confined areas like hotel rooms, workplaces, and medical facilities are well managed. Through the utilization of Time of Flight (ToF), Ultra-Wideband (UWB), Radio Frequency (RF), and Zigbee technologies, it is feasible to maintain the environmental conditions of the surroundings and prevent risks, thus, improving safety.

# 2.4.1. Detection of Environmental Hazards

The use of the ToF and other non-destructive technologies has one of the distinct advantages to assessing and finding dangerous environmental parameters like the level of temperature, humidity, or the existence of toxic substances. ToF sensors, in particular, are able to identify beginning stages of environmental shifts when the distance or amount of movement of certain objects changes which are likely to cause problems like blockage of air vents or abnormal room setups. It has also been shown that ToF sensors combined with environmental monitoring systems can enhance the early warning of dangerous situations considerably. [16] For example, in smart buildings, this capability ensures that the risk is addressed and the damages contained rather than the opposite some damages from the risk.

UWB and RF-based systems also play a crucial role in detecting hazards, UWB's ability to penetrate walls and track movements behind obstacles makes it suitable for detecting changes in structural integrity or monitoring areas for potential equipment failures. For example, in mining operations, UWB technology has been employed to detect hazar-dous movement in underground tunnels, providing early warnings of potential cave-ins or structural damage. [21]. This makes it exceptional for industrial environments where large machinery or confined spaces are common. [18]

### 2.4.2. Fire and Smoke Detection

ToF sensors can further be incorporated in systems for fire hazard integrity. Traditional fire detection measures rely on smoke detectors, while it is possible that ToF technology may

augment fire detection capability by identifying changes in the shape or location of objects within a room. If a fire or smoke covers the area the sensor is supposed to observe, it would wait and ascertain the presence of these events, in order to qualify an alarm to be activated due to these features. It has been established through studies that ToF sensors integrated with regular smoke detectors perform better in terms of response time facilitating fire emergency evacuations and responses. [22] This hybrid method works as a two-way approach, which enhances detection further, since ToF sensors can be in the forefront of detecting any fire hazards.

Besides, Zigbee-based networks are very often applied in wireless fire alarm systems because of their low power and high reliability qualities. Zigbee sensors may be used in wide area fire detection systems where wired connection may not be feasible, and their mesh network capability enables wide area timely alerting of the regions. Integrating ToF sensors with Zigbee networks offers a Systematic solution for fire and hazards monitoring ensuring effective coverage even in confined spaces like hotel rooms or industrial areas. [23]

### 2.4.3. Fall Detection and Occupant Safety

ToF and RF sensors have been widely implemented in healthcare and elderly assistance facilities for the purposes of falls prediction, establishing patients' movement and sending alerts in case of irregular movements. The application of ToF technology makes it possible to notice sudden changes in height which may mean a patient has collapsed, while RF signals are able to detect the location of people in different rooms or behind walls for effective tracking of patients without compromising their privacy. [24] Research has demonstrated that fall detection ToF systems have the capability to differentiate intentional and non-intentional fall events averting misdiagnosis hence enhancing patient safety measures. [25]

Through the employment of non-invasive technologies such as ToF and RF, healthcare systems can have the patients under the care without being actively watched. This in turn permits the caregivers to react appropriately to threats that may arise, including the risk of falls without interfering with the privacy and decency of the subjects being observed.

### 2.4.4. Structural Integrity and Equipment Failure Detection

Equally, in workplace environments, safeguarding the structural integrity of the buildings and the operability of the equipment is indispensable in ensuring that accidents do not occur. Both UWB and RF technologies are very efficient in picking out the tiniest of movements and vibrations which could imply the forthcoming failure of the equipment or structural damage. The fact that UWB has a significant edge in terms of precision in the identification of minute variations in structure makes it appropriate for the surveillance of the equipment to inform the users about possible failures that may happen. [26] It is also possible to use the RF waves to know if there are hidden cracks or changes in the structure which pose a risk to the structures and give an immediate warning against critical seismic activities. [19]

In sum, it is feasible to create a risk detection mechanism that guarantees the security of enclosed spaces through a combination of advanced sensor technologies, such as ToF, UWB, RF, and Zigbee. These technologies are designed to give early notification of the likelihood of risks so as to avert accidents, fires, breakdown of equipment and other hazardous situations,

while ensuring that monitoring which is intrusive is not done.

# 2.5. Time of Flight (ToF) Technology

ToF is a measurement technique that determines the distance between a sensor and an object by measuring the time it takes for a signal, usually a pulse of light or sound, to travel to the object and back to the sensor. It is widely used in applications of depth sensors, 3D cameras, and distance measuring devices. [27]

## 2.5.1. Principles of ToF Sensors

In the following detailed step-by-step, it is shown how this method works:

- Pulse Emission: A ToF device emits a pulse of light (usually infrared light) or an ultrasonic signal to the object of interest. [27]
- Pulse reflection: The signal reflects off the surface of the object and returns to the sensor. [27]
- Pulse Detection: The sensor detects the reflected signal.
- Calculation of Time of Flight: The time elapsed from the emission of the pulse to the detection of the reflected pulse is measured. Since the speed of the signal (light or sound) is known, the distance can be calculated. This because the characteristic equation to be able to obtain the distance is given by : [28]

$$Distance = velocity \cdot time \tag{1}$$

In this case, since the time obtained is for a trip to which it goes and returns, the equation would be as follows:

$$2 \cdot distance = velocity \cdot time \tag{2}$$

Adapting to the data that we have in signals or waves, we have that the speed, would be the speed of the signal and the time, would be the time in which it takes to come and go the signal, the time of flight, so the equation would be as follows:

$$distance = \frac{\text{Signal Speed} \cdot \text{Time of Flight}}{2} \tag{3}$$



Fig. 1: Use of TOF technology. [29]

Some examples of where such estimates and technology are most useful include:

- 3D cameras: These are used to fit devices in the likes of smart phones and video games consoles to provide the depth mapping of the scenes and also enable gesture interactions with the devices.[27]
- Distance Measurement: In industrial automation, for precise distance measurement between components or for object detection purposes. [27]
- Human Machine Interaction (HMI): The primary function would be movement and gestures detecting especially and positioning in advanced user interfaces. [27]

There's no doubt that ToF imaging is one of the most reliable technologies for detecting a target within a certain range and for its comparison with other technologies it can be said:

- LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging): ToF is similar to LiDAR technology in that it measures distances with lasers however; the use of LiDAR involves a greater expense and is usually found in autonomous vehicles.
- Ultrasonic: Compared to ultrasonic sensors that are low-cost but restricted to highprecision tasks, ToF is relatively higher in terms of resolution and measures density around accuracy levels.
- Stereo cameras: Unlike ToF, stereo cameras calculate depth using the disparity between two images taken from different angles, which can be less accurate in low-light environments.

In the current case, it is established that there are a good number of devices where this type of technology is applicable, many of them too are present in the manufacture of the component, as can be seen below:

• ToF Laser: Utilizes a laser light beam and creates pulses that can measure distances and is widely used for industrial and robotic purposes in medical, industrial, robotic and even space applications.

- ToF Cameras: Follows the same pattern as ToF laser; however this one adapter-sensor arrays that create depth maps. Presently, they are employed onboard smartphones, drones and augmented reality systems.
- Ultrasonic ToF: Sound waves are employed for measuring distances suitable for less complex systems such as parking sensors.

# 2.5.2. Applications in Human Detection

The **Time of Flight (ToF)** technology has received a further boost in effective human detection due to its precision in measuring distance by calculating how long it takes light to go to an object and come back. ToF sensors are designed to emit light pulses, most commonly in infrared, and these light pulses are used to determine time delays between the emission and reflection of light and thus determine distance. [27] Owing to this high accuracy of measurements, ToF is particularly effective for human presence detection any place for instance homes, buildings, industries, and healthcare areas. [30]

Automating systems such as lights and climate controls or security in smart homes and commercial buildings is one of the most practical uses of ToF technology. Through constantly assessing human presence and position in the room using ToF sensors, lighting systems can be improved by controlling the amount of electricity used when the room is occupied. [30] To offer an example, studies have reported a decrease in electricity use in smart lighting systems with ToF integrated within them by up to 30 % in the residential and small commercial environments. [5] Moreover, ToF based room occupancy monitoring also provides that the lighting and thermal control systems are set with respect to the number of occupants in the given room. [30]

In the field of human-computer interaction, gesture based handheld interaction with ToF based devices has become an essential form where a user controls the devices using human executable movements. ToF receptors are especially important for touch-less controls where a human utilizes movements for controlling an electrical gadget such as a TV, game console, and industrial control devices. For instance, Microsoft's Kinecty system is based on ToF capturing the actions of the body in three-dimensional space, enhancement percentages on several key measures were observed when the user interface and application worked seamlessly. [22]

A special application exists for ToF sensors, which is real-time monitoring of elderly patients' movements. The capability of recognizing falling or unusual body postures promotes the effective use of ToF sensors in circumstances that require quick caregiver response in case of an accident. Studies show that systems based on ToF technology are more accurate than traditional motion sensors. [25] These serve as the eyes of caregivers enabling them to have virtual babysitting while focusing on other duties and enhancing the security of elders living alone.

Security and surveillance systems also benefit from the use of ToF technology as well. ToF sensors create three-dimensional depth maps of environments, which make it easier to discover unauthorized human activities. This is quite helpful in environments with high security like banks, airports, and government buildings. Rather, ToF-based systems show good ability in differentiating between objects and humans in view of surveillance, hence lowering the probability of false alarms and general surveillance reliability. [31]

In the automotive industry, however, ToF technology has been employed in driver monitoring systems not only for performance but essentially for safety. These sensors monitor whether the driver is focused on the vehicle and these parameters can be extracted by the analysis of the driver's head and eye movements detecting drowsiness or distraction. ToF sensors are used for passengers detection in the vehicle and airbag deployment for safety improvements. [32]

In general, ToF technology is an effective, flexible, and energy-saving solution for human detection in diverse applications. Its capability to be used in different settings such as domestic and healthcare sectors, security, and even automotive sectors makes it a very useful technology that has the potential to improve human detection systems considerably. [31]

#### 2.5.3. Comparison With Other Detection Technologies

When considering potential hazard detection and human presence monitoring, it would be reasonable to put ToF technologies, UWB, RF, and Zigbee technologies into comparison with such commonly used detection methods as video cameras or even bio-metrical systems. All the technologies listed have specific pros and problems which can be beneficial or challenging depending on the specifics of the deployment scenarios, environmental conditions, and privacy issues.

#### Cameras and Visual Surveillance

Cameras has become one of the most widely adopted technologies for surveillance and security and monitoring human activity. It also has a great advantage in the case of providing visual data, which can be extremely useful in detecting any sort of intrusion or fire, or any unauthorized activity. But these cameras do raise serious concerns about privacy, especially in enclosed environments like hospitals or medical facilities. Moreover, a person being video recorded 24/7, may find this situation to become unfavorable because the users might find themselves under constant observation and there's always the risk of private footage leaks. [14] Camera also faces the problem whereby, they need constant lighting or infrared features high low light settings, this causes a major drawback in regard to the power consumption.

In contrast, ToF, UWB, RF, and Zigbee technologies have the advantage of being able to monitor in a non-intrusive manner, which makes them more suitable for privacy-sensitive environments. These technologies do not capture images or video, significantly reducing privacy concerns. The Time-of-Flight in particular, offers high precision in detecting objects and movements without revealing any identifiable information about the individuals being monitored. [33] While cameras provide visual confirmation, nearly all non-visual sensors are able to cover many situations, without having to compromise privacy features.

#### Infrared Sensors and Motion Detectors

In human interaction and movements, motion detectors and infrared (IR) sensors have become quite useful in monitoring human presence and movement. These sensors detect the presence of a heat source or motion within a fixed area, which makes basic occupancy detection resourceful. Certain limitations also affect the IR sensors concerning range and operational accuracy such as in large areas or where minute actions must be performed. These detectors are also affected by false alarms that are typically induced by environmental changes such as temperature fluctuations and movements of inanimate objects. [34]

In comparison, ToF sensors offer much greater precision and range than standard IR sensors, enabling the detection of even small movements and changes in the environment.

ToF can measure distances with millimeter accuracy, making it more reliable for detecting hazards like fire or structural changes in a room. UWB also outperforms IR in confined spaces, as it can penetrate obstacles and walls, providing continuous monitoring even in obstructed areas [35].

In comparison, ToF sensors offer much greater precision and range than standard IR sensors, enabling the detection of even small movements and changes in the environment. ToF sensors have high levels of range precision, making it more reliable for detecting hazards like fire or structural changes in a room. UWB also bests IR for enclosed zones by being able to traverse barriers and walls thereby offering surveillance even where security is compromised. [35].

### **Ultrasonic Sensors**

Ultrasonic sensors are also an option for monitoring human presence and motion patterns. These sensors send sound waves which help in assessing the existence of objects or individuals in the given space. Nonetheless, their non-invasive nature and lack of vision sensing capability is a drawback of limited range and accuracy mostly in scenarios featuring lags or shiny surfaces. Ultrasonic sensors in most cases, monitoring lacks the effectiveness of fine movements or scenarios that require real-time monitoring. [36]

#### Summary of Comparison

While visual technologies like cameras provide the advantage of real-time visual monitoring, they raise significant privacy concerns and are energy intensive. Non-visual technologies such as ToF, UWB, RF, and Zigbee offer a more privacy-friendly solution for human presence and hazard detection, mainly in closed spaces. ToF provides superior accuracy in measuring distances and detecting changes in the environment, making it suitable for hazard detection in personal or commercial spaces without compromising privacy. [27] UWB are particularly suited in situations where significant obstacles exist as they are able to maintain effective monitoring in difficult conditions while RF and Zigbee offer large-scale coverage but with a high-cost.

# 2.6. VL53L7CX Time-of-Flight Sensor

Another positive proposal in line with improving room monitoring systems is to integrate the VL53l7CX sensor which uses infrared technology and has the ToF measurement algorithm. This ToF sensor manufactured by STMicroelectronics has applications where accurate distance measurement is required through laser (infrared) technology. It is also held under the FlightSense<sup>TM</sup> family and addresses applications that require higher accuracy and faster response time in distance measurement such as robotics, mobile devices, smart appliances, and IoT applications. [37]

Some of its key features include:

- Distance measurement from a few centimeters up to 8 meters.
- High accuracy even in strong ambient light conditions.
- Ability to detect multiple targets simultaneously (multi-zone detection).
- Provides measurement data in 3D format, enabling surface mapping.



Fig. 2: VL53L7CX Time-of-Flight Sensor. [37]

#### 2.6.1. Principle of Operation

The principle of operation is based on the Time of flight, as mentioned previously used to measure the distance between the sensor and an object. This sensor emits pulses of infrared laser light that reflect off nearby objects. The sensor records the time of light returning back the object and also calculates the distance by this data. The detailed step by step function standing at the work of this device is: [37]

- 1. The sensor emits an infrared laser pulse directed towards the target object. [37]
- 2. The laser hits the target and is reflected back to the sensor. [37]
- 3. The sensor measures the time it took for the pulse to travel from the sensor to the target and back. This time is translated directly into a distance measurement using the formula. [37]

$$Distance = \frac{\text{Signal speed} \cdot \text{Time of Flight}}{2} \tag{4}$$

4. Since light can be affected by different environmental factors (such as ambient light and surface reflection), the sensor applies correction algorithms to ensure measurement accuracy. [37]

With this measurement approach it is accurate, even on non-reflective surfaces and has the capability to perceive numerous objects in varying distances which is advantageous for applications requiring mapping and sensing in multiple regions. [37]

### 2.6.2. Technical Specifications

Among the technical specifications of this device are the following [37]:

- Contains a measurement range of 0.1 to 8 meters
- Can measure and perform measurements up to 64 zones (8x8 matrix) for multiple object detection.
- The resolution of the sensor allows measurements in intervals of less than 1 millimeter.
- The device is powered between 2.6 V to 3.5 V range.
- It has an I2C communication.

- It has a field of view (FoV): 60° x 60° (90° diagonal).
- The dimensions of the device are the following 6.4 mm x 3.0 mm x 1.6 mm.
- The power consumption of the device in continuous mode: Up to 266 mW with 2.8V power supply.
- The power consumption of the device in standalone mode is from 5.4 mW in low power modes (20 ms integration, 1 Hz in 4x4 mode).

#### 2.6.3. Ranges and Accuracy

The ranges and precision possibilities contained in the device are as follows: [37]

- Maximum range (without ambient light, high reflectance), In 4x4 mode: up to 3500 mm with high reflectance (88%).
- In 8x8 mode: up to 2000 mm with high reflectance.
- In close range (20-200 mm): ±9 mm error in dark conditions.
- At extended range (up to 4000 mm): Error of  $\pm 3\%$  to  $\pm 6\%$  depending on ambient light conditions and lens reflectance.



Fig. 3: System FoV and Exclusion Zone Description. [37]

### 2.6.4. Block Diagram VL53L7CX

To facilitate the comprehension of how the VL53L7CX device operates and its pin-out, we are going to elaborate its internal behavior, outlining how each of the pins embedded in the device works, all this is provided by the datasheet of the device. [37]



Fig. 4: Block Diagram VL53L7CX. [37]

The Single Photon Avalanche Diode (SPAD) Detection Array is a very sensitive detection array which can measure the arrival of a single photon allowing for high accuracy in determining the round-trip light time to the object. [37]

The Non Volatile Memory is read-write and allows the permanent device setup, such as the sensor firmware and calibration parameters to be saved, while the **Read Only** Memory (ROM) stores the necessary routines for sensor operation. [37]

The **Random Access Memory (RAM)** stores the measurements and calculations temporarily until the sensors' operations are completed. All internal processes of the sensor are managed by the integrated **Microcontroller** that also receives data from the SPAD array and commands main system communications. [37]

The Advanced Ranging Core is an advanced distance measurement core that performs precise calculations based on the data provided by the SPADs. In this core, other features such as complex algorithms are integrated in order enhance the accuracy and multiple zones of detection are handled at the same time. [37]

The VCSEL Driver controls the VCSEL (Vertical Cavity Surface Emitting Laser), a laser that emits infrared light with a wavelength of 940 nm. This infrared light bounces off objects in front of the sensor, and the time it takes to return is measured to calculate distance. [37]

Pins: The **SCL** and **SDA** pins enable I<sup>2</sup>C communication between the sensor and other devices, such as an external microcontroller. The **INT** (interrupt) pin notifies the main system when new data is available. **GND** is the system's ground connection, while the **AVDD** and **IOVDD** pins provide the necessary power for sensor operation. [37]

#### 2.6.5. Use Cases and Applications

VL53L7CX sensor that incorporates Time of Flight (ToF) technology has a wide range of uses and applications other than just energy efficiency and people detection, hence making it ideal in different sectors. One of the applications is in industrial automation and robots.

Since the VL53L7CX sensor measures distance with a precision of about many millimeters, it can be effectively applied for robotic navigation and obstacle avoidance. [38]

In automated factories or warehouses, the sensor can be integrated into robotic systems to ensure safe navigation through environments and even adjacent workers, to avoid any collisions with obstacles. The fast response time and multi zone detection of the sensor allows robots to adjust their movements in real time, thus improving work efficiency and safety in fast changing environments. [38]

Another major area is in the use of VL53L7CX sensor in human gesture recognition systems that are also gaining popularity in devices such as smartphones and gaming consoles. The VL53L7CX can detect hand movements or gestures and uses this for the control of devices without touching them. In this application, the advantages are prominent in the areas where it is necessary to maintain hygiene (medical facilities, public places, etc.) as users do not need to come into physical contact with a device. [22] Because of their compact size and high accuracy, sensors can also be integrated into small consumer devices.

In autonomously driving vehicles and drones, the VL53L7CX is of particular importance for distance measurement and terrain mapping components. With the sensor being able to measure several meters away with plenty of accuracy, it can assist in 3D mapping and rendering which is critical for area navigation. For the drones, the use of the sensor can aid in hovering at an altitude and for collision avoidance during the flight which is required for safe and efficient operation when indoors or outdoors. [39]

The VL53L7CX is also used in industrial level sensing applications. In factories, the control device can be fitted in the production process to measure gaps in machine parts where the sensor can assist in determining if there are any objects present on the assembly line. The high dust or poor light environments doe not pose a major challenge for the sensor, its usage would help maintain the industry's precision. [38] In addition, this sensor also comes with a multi-zone feature that facilitates monitoring of many areas at the same time making it perfect for quality control applications requiring such capabilities to ensure that the same parameters are met over time. [37]

Moreover, the sensor can also be used in smart home systems where it serves a variety of purposes including proximity detection that controls automated doors, lighting systems, and security systems. The VL53L7CX, for instance, can enable automatic doors to open when someone tries to enter, and enable some lights to adjust brightness according to the distance of a person from the lights. [40] This makes the smart home technologies and activities that involve them more seamless and conserve energy. [7]

In summary, while the VL53L7CX sensor is highly effective in detecting human presence for energy-saving purposes in hotels, the applications of the sensor are broad and include: robotics, gesture recognition, autonomous navigation, industrial automation and smart home technologies. It is a seemingly accurate, fast and flexible tool suitable for multiple environments, and therefore, its use is not limited to the detection of occupancy alone.

### 2.6.6. Performance in Various Environments

Different factors such as the environment have an impact on the performance of the VL53L7CX sensor, for example, in the low light environment such as the nighttime in a hotel room or in a dim corridor the VL53L7CX does well since it is not dependent on ambient light.[37]

Presence and motion detection using the infrared light makes the sensor effective for nighttime where energy efficiency and security matters. Studies show that ToF sensors are highly effective in low-light conditions due to their reliance on infrared technology rather than visible light. [34]

Operating in reflective environments like hotel rooms which have some large windows or metallic objects, some ToF sensors might struggle with signal reflection, potentially affecting accuracy. The VL53L7CX on the other hand has advanced algorithms that eliminate the effects of materials used that are reflective and cause false readings. They can still be reliable but are said to perform poorly in extremely reflective environments but are calibratable to overcome such effects. [37]

In crowded or multi-occupant environments, such as hotel lobbies or conference rooms, the VL53L7CX excels at detecting multiple individuals simultaneously, thanks to its multi-zone capability. [37]

The sensor distinguishes between people in a room to activate lighting and HVAC (Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning) only when there are active occupancy. Such systems reduce energy losses during events or peak hours when inside common areas, this is ideal for efficiency. It is also remarkable how due to the very wide FoV (Field of View) of the sensor, a smaller number of sensors are required hence making it more economical when there is a need to observe larger areas. [37]

In spaces where the electromagnetic interference level is high, such as where many electronic devices are situated, the VL53L7CX may experience interference that could impact its performance. Optimal accuracy can be achieved with care in sensor location and isolation from high electric and magnetic field strengths. Under this condition, however, most of the time, the sensor does work in quite a satisfactory manner in most hotel environments where such interference is minimal. [37]

Overall, due to its ability to work optimally under various conditions present in the hotel environment, VL53L7CX can be employed in circumstances with even greater energy efficiency by improving the reliability of human presence detection in the private or public areas of the buildings.

# 3. Methodology

Based on the main objective of this document, the following methodology is developed to meet the project's objectives. The methodology will follow a research-based approach, combining a Systematic Literature Review (SLR) with practical implementations, ensuring that both theoretical and experimental findings are well-supported.

# 3.1. Systematic Literature Review (SLR)

A systematic review was conducted to identify existing technologies and methods for detecting people in confined spaces using sensor-based detection. The following steps were followed to ensure a structured and unbiased review of the literature.

#### 3.1.1. Search Strategy

The search strategy focused on peer-reviewed articles, conference papers, and technical reports published in the last ten years (2014–2024) related to detection technologies in confined spaces. Keywords used in the search included confined space detection, sensor technology, Wi-Fi detection, UWB detection, Zigbee presence detection, RF presence detection, and Time of Flight (ToF) detection. The databases consulted were IEEE Xplore, ScienceDirect, Google Scholar, and SpringerLink. Boolean operators (AND, OR) were used to refine the search and ensure a comprehensive collection of relevant studies.

### 3.1.2. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

#### **Inclusion Criteria:**

- Studies published in the last ten years (2013–2023).
- Articles focusing on the application of sensors for the detection of individuals in confined spaces.
- Studies that provide comparative analysis or case studies on the effectiveness of technologies like Wi-Fi, UWB, Zigbee, RF, and ToF.

#### **Exclusion Criteria**:

- Studies not focused on confined spaces or human detection.
- Papers that only discuss theoretical models without any practical or experimental validation.
- Duplicates or articles that lack technical depth or insufficient information.

#### 3.1.3. Data Extraction and Synthesis

The selected papers were analyzed to extract key data related to the technologies used, their performance in confined spaces, and their limitations. Data extraction focused on the following points:

- Technology type (Wi-Fi, UWB, Zigbee, RF, ToF).
- Detection accuracy, range, and robustness.
- Challenges faced in confined spaces (e.g., signal interference, material absorption).
- Energy consumption and scalability.
- Cost of implementation.

A synthesis of the data was performed by comparing the key characteristics of each technology. This helped in identifying the most suitable technologies for further analysis and practical testing in confined spaces.

# 3.2. Comparative Analysis Framework

The Comparative Analysis Framework is designed to evaluate and compare the technologies identified through the systematic literature review. The aim is to select the most appropriate technology for detecting people in confined spaces based on a series of established evaluation criteria.

## 3.2.1. Evaluation Criteria

The following criteria were used to assess and compare each technology:

- **Detection Accuracy**: Ability of the technology to detect the presence of individuals with minimal errors.
- **Robustness to Environmental Conditions**: Performance in various environments, such as areas with metallic surfaces, high humidity, or confined geometry.
- Scalability: Ability of the system to be expanded or scaled for larger spaces.
- **Energy Efficiency**: Power consumption of the sensors during operation and in standby mode.
- Cost of Implementation: Total cost of installing and maintaining the sensor network.
- Ease of Installation: Complexity involved in deploying the sensors in confined spaces.
- **Privacy Considerations**: The extent to which the system ensures individual privacy without gathering unnecessary data.

# 4. Comparative Analysis of Detection Techniques

When one speaks of location, a map immediately comes to mind with a graphical interface indicating where a certain device is located or where a person is located. Localization is the location that an object or person has in a certain space. It requires coordinates that provide reference points for it to be traceable and communicable (Editorial. 2014). [1]

As these types of technologies have been developing, they have been classified into different types of positioning, all this according to how they work and how they base their type of communication. These can be classified as:

- Satellite positioning.
- Positioning based on communication networks.

GPS (Global Positioning System) is a worldwide navigation system. Currently, this system is composed of 24 artificial satellites and their respective stations that are located on the earth, providing positioning information 24 hours a day (L Casanova, 2002). Its operation is based on the measurement of distances from radio signals transmitted by a group of satellites, whose orbit is precisely known, and these signals are captured and decoded. [41] Once this information is obtained, satellite trilateration is used to determine the exact location of the target.

As shown in Figure 5, trilateration works by calculating the distances from at least three satellites to a specific point on the Earth's surface. Each satellite provides a distance measurement, which forms a radius around the satellite. The intersection of these radii, as represented in Figure 6, reveals the position of the target on the Earth's surface. This method is essential for accurate GPS positioning, as it relies on multiple reference points to pinpoint the location precisely. [42]



Fig. 5: Satellite Trilateration. [42]

Positioning based on communication networks is based on signals, which can be found in mobile networks, local wireless networks, as well as by sensors in ad-hoc networks. Some examples of communication types are:

- Systems based on infrared radiation: it is a simple structure, low cost and easy mobility, for the detection or tracking of objects or people. [43] They are used in both wireless and wired devices.
- Ultrasound based system: is a technology that uses ultrasonic waves, this allows measuring the distance between the fixed station and the mobile device to be located [44],
- Radio Frequency (RF) based system: mainly used in internal positioning systems, where electromagnetic waves can travel through walls, objects and human bodies. [45]

In order to be able to communicate between different devices, different techniques have been developed over the years to perform this action. When determining the location between a device that may be miles away, the best way to establish this type of communication is through wireless access technologies. The following list will define several of these technologies and show their respective characteristics, advantages and disadvantages. Among some of these can be found:

# 4.1. WiFi

Known wireless communication technology based on the 802.11 standard and protocol, which allows local networks, commonly used equipment in homes, such as computers, tablets,

smartphones or cell phones, make use of radio frequencies for the transmission of information or connection between the same devices, generating an access point between them. [46]

# 4.1.1. Detection Principles

The principle behind Wi-Fi-based detection relies on measuring the Received Signal Strength Indicator (RSSI) from various Wi-Fi access points. Each access point emits a message constantly, which is received by the user's device. By measuring the received power, it is possible to estimate the location of the device. Triangulation or trilateration methods are typically employed, where the distance from multiple access points is calculated and combined to pinpoint the device's location. [42]

## 4.1.2. Accuracy and Robustness

Wi-Fi-based detection technologies generally offer moderate accuracy in location estimation, with typical accuracy ranges of about 3 to 5 meters, depending on the environment. Factors such as interference, signal reflections, and obstacles (like walls or furniture) can impact performance, making Wi-Fi less robust in complex environments [46]. Although Wi-Fi-based solutions work well in open areas, accuracy may degrade in highly obstructed environments like dense urban buildings or indoor settings with many partitions. [47]

## 4.1.3. Scalability and Complexity

One of the key advantages of Wi-Fi-based systems is their high scalability. Since Wi-Fi infrastructure is already present in most buildings, scaling these systems to cover larger areas or multiple rooms is straightforward. However, the complexity increases when attempting to achieve high accuracy, as it requires fine-tuning and possibly fingerprinting techniques, where a database of signal strengths is created to improve location estimates. This calibration process can be time-consuming and complex, especially in large or highly variable environments. [47]

### 4.1.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

The cost of implementing Wi-Fi-based detection is relatively low, especially in environments where Wi-Fi infrastructure is already present. Most modern buildings and homes are equipped with Wi-Fi access points, meaning that the installation costs are nearly zero. [48] The main investment is in calibration, which may require the creation of signal strength maps and adjustments to improve accuracy.

# 4.1.5. Privacy considerations

Privacy concerns are a significant issue with Wi-Fi-based detection technologies. Since Wi-Fi signals can easily penetrate walls and are constantly broadcast, there is a risk of unintended tracking or location estimation beyond the intended area. The passive monitoring of devices without explicit consent may raise ethical and legal concerns, especially in settings like hotel rooms or private homes where privacy is critical. [49]

#### 4.1.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

Due to the nature of Wi-Fi signals, which can penetrate walls and travel significant distances, there is a high risk of detecting devices outside the intended area. For instance, a Wi-Fi-based system designed to detect occupancy within a hotel room might also detect devices in adjacent rooms or corridors, reducing the accuracy of room-specific occupancy detection. This issue can complicate the deployment of Wi-Fi for fine-grained location-based services where room-level accuracy is required. [50]

# 4.2. UWB

UWB (Ultra-wide-band) is a low power, short range, high data rate (480 Mbits/s) wireless technology. It emits Radio Frequency (RF) signals, which transmit binary data with low power consumption and very short duration or bursts of pulses across a frequency spectrum. Potentially, UWB signals consist of a bandwidth greater than 500 MHz. [51]

### 4.2.1. Detection Principles

UWB uses short-duration radio frequency pulses to detect movement and presence by measuring the time of signal reflection. UWB is particularly effective for precise movement detection, as its ability to emit extremely short pulses allows for accurate distance measurement. [51]

#### 4.2.2. Accuracy and Robustness

UWB offers centimeter-level accuracy, making it one of the most precise technologies for detecting people, its high precision makes UWB suitable for applications requiring accurate movement and location detection, even in challenging environments. [51]

### 4.2.3. Scalability and Complexity

While UWB is scalable, its installation requires specialized infrastructure, making it expensive and complex due to the need for specialized equipment, limiting its use to high-precision applications. [52]

#### 4.2.4. Costs and Installation Requirements

UWB has a high installation cost because of the advanced infrastructure it requires. UWB is highly accurate, its cost can be prohibitive for more common applications, limiting its use to environments where extreme precision is necessary. [52]

#### 4.2.5. Privacy Considerations

UWB is a privacy-safe option as it does not collect personal or identifiable information, which minimizes privacy concerns. UWB became well-suited to the requirements of hospital settings, ensuring patient safety and operational efficiency. [53]

#### 4.2.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

UWB signals can penetrate walls, posing a small risk of detecting individuals outside the room. As states by Kocur, D et al UWB radar measures with high rate and it can continually track people even in the case when their radar echoes are crossing or merging. [54]

# 4.3. Bluetooth

Bluetooth is a communications protocol used for wireless transmission of data (photos, music, contacts, etc.) and voice between different devices within a short distance, usually within a perimeter of ten meters. One of the applications that have been developed through this technology, is to be able to link the smartphone with a printer in order to print the photos contained in that device without the need for cables. [55]

### 4.3.1. Detection Principles

Bluetooth technology uses Received Signal Strength Indicator (RSSI) to detect the presence of nearby devices, allowing the calculation of distance and determining if a person is present. Bluetooth-enabled devices emitting signals, can be triangulated to estimate the location of individuals. [56]

#### 4.3.2. Accuracy and Robustness

Bluetooth accuracy ranges from 1 to 10 meters, making it suitable for proximity-based applications rather than precise localization. However, Bluetooth shows limited accuracy, especially in environments with multiple obstacles or interference. [56]

### 4.3.3. Scalability and Complexity

Bluetooth is highly scalable since most modern devices are already equipped with this technology, making it easy to implement on a large scale. **zhangbluetooh2020encyclopedia** 

### 4.3.4. Costs and Installation Requirements

It is a low-cost solution due to its widespread adoption. Bluetooth requires minimal investment for implementation, since most devices are already equipped with this technology, like smartphones, computers, radio and even smart TVs. **zhangbluetooh2020encyclopedia** 

### 4.3.5. Privacy Considerations

Although it does not capture images or audio, continuous signal monitoring may raise privacy concerns, due to the potential tracking of personal devices without user consent. [57]

### 4.3.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

Bluetooth signals can penetrate walls, posing a moderate risk of detecting individuals outside the room if the system is not properly calibrated, this may compromise detection in unwanted areas. [55]

# 4.4. RFID (Radio Frequency Identification)

This technology is used to identify some object or element, follow its movement route and calculate distances thanks to a special tag which emits radio waves, this is attached or incorporated to the object. In order for the user to know the location, it need to have a number of radio frequency tags nearby. RFID technology allows tags to be read even when they do not have a direct line of sight and can also penetrate layers that are quite thin. [58]

# 4.4.1. Detection Principles

RFID technology relies on tags that communicate with readers via radio waves. The tag emits a signal, which the reader picks up and decodes to identify the tagged object or person. The readers can be fixed or mobile, depending on the application, and they collect data passively from the tags. RFID typically operates in the UHF or LF frequency ranges, which allows for flexible deployment in both short- and long-range applications. [58]

# 4.4.2. Accuracy and Robustness

The accuracy of RFID can vary significantly depending on the type of tag and reader used. For indoor environments, RFID systems generally have an effective range of 2 to 3 meters, but accuracy can be influenced by signal interference or the presence of materials that block radio waves, such as metal or water. However, RFID is considered a robust technology because it functions without requiring a direct line of sight, which is an advantage over technologies like infrared or optical systems. Despite this, RFID can still experience reduced accuracy when signals are obstructed or reflected by surrounding materials. [59]

# 4.4.3. Scalability and Complexity

RFID is highly scalable, as it allows for the simultaneous identification of multiple tags, making it useful in large-scale environments such as warehouses, retail stores, or even hospitals. The scalability of RFID largely depends on the number of readers deployed, however, RFID tags are inexpensive, the complexity of the system increases with the need for additional readers to cover larger areas, which can raise installation costs and maintenance complexity. For smaller-scale applications, fewer readers are required, which simplifies implementation. [60]

# 4.4.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

RFID tags themselves are generally low-cost, making the technology affordable for tagging and tracking many objects or individuals. However, the cost of RFID systems rises with the infrastructure required, specifically the number of readers and the networking needed to connect them. The installation of RFID systems also requires careful calibration to ensure proper coverage, especially in environments where interference may be an issue. [60]

# 4.4.5. Privacy Considerations

While RFID does not capture images or audio, which minimizes certain privacy concerns, it can still raise significant privacy issues. it is believe that RFID systems can track

tags from a distance, potentially compromising privacy if individuals are unaware that their tags are being scanned. The passive nature of RFID means that users may not know when they are being tracked, raising ethical concerns about surveillance in public and private spaces. [61]

#### 4.4.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

RFID particularly suitable for room-level detection, where the risk of detecting people or objects in neighboring rooms is minimized. RFID's range is relatively limited compared to other detection technologies, which reduces the risk of unwanted detection in adjacent areas. Although certain materials, like metal, can block RFID signals, the overall risk of detecting tags or individuals outside the intended detection zone is generally low. [62]

# 4.5. Zigbee

Zigbee is a low-power wireless communication protocol commonly used for home automation and sensor networks. It detects the presence of people through motion sensors or by measuring disturbances in signal strength. Zigbee operates in the 2.4 GHz frequency range, providing a balance between range, power consumption, and data rate, making it well-suited for low-power applications. [63]

#### 4.5.1. Detection Principles

Zigbee technology is typically connected to motion detectors, such as passive infrared (PIR) sensors, which detect human presence by sensing movement. The PIR sensors measure changes in infrared radiation emitted by objects or people, and Zigbee is responsible for transmitting this data to a central system. [63] Zigbee can also measure changes in signal strength to detect disturbances in the environment, which can indicate movement. While Zigbee's detection principles are sufficient for basic occupancy sensing, it lacks the detailed precision of other technologies like Ultra-Wideband (UWB) or Time of Flight (ToF). [51]

#### 4.5.2. Accuracy and Robustness

The accuracy of Zigbee is generally in the range of a few meters, making it adequate for applications where high precision is not essential. [64] Zigbee's primary advantage lies in its robustness for low-power and large-scale deployments, but its accuracy can be influenced by interference from other wireless networks operating in the same frequency band, such as Wi-Fi. [51]

### 4.5.3. Scalability and Complexity

One of the key strengths of Zigbee technology is its scalability. Zigbee networks can be easily expanded to cover large areas, with minimal infrastructure costs. As a mesh network, Zigbee allows multiple devices to act as nodes that can relay data to each other, enabling wide coverage even in complex environments. [23] The low complexity and low-power consumption of Zigbee make it particularly suitable for battery-operated devices, such as motion detectors and door sensors in smart homes or industrial settings. Its ability to form self-healing

networks also enhances its scalability, as devices can automatically reroute data if a node fails. However, compared to technologies like Wi-Fi or UWB, Zigbee offers lower bandwidth and slower data rates, which may limit its use in high-demand applications. [51]

## 4.5.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

Zigbee technology is cost-effective, particularly for large-scale installations. Since Zigbee operates on low power, the devices typically have long battery life, reducing maintenance costs. [23]Additionally, the infrastructure required for Zigbee networks is minimal, as its mesh network architecture allows each device to communicate with others, reducing the need for central hubs or repeaters [63]. This makes Zigbee an attractive option for smart buildings and home automation systems, where the focus is on low-cost and energy-efficient solutions. The installation process is relatively straightforward, as the devices can be easily integrated into existing networks without major infrastructure changes.

### 4.5.5. Privacy Considerations

Zigbee does not either capture visual or audio data, reducing the risk of privacy violations typically associated with technologies like cameras or microphones. Its low-range nature also means that Zigbee-based systems are less likely to collect unintended data from outside the target area, making it a more privacy-friendly option for environments where privacy is a concern, such as hotel rooms or private homes. [65]

### 4.5.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

Zigbee signals are generally less prone to penetrate walls compared to technologies like Bluetooth or UWB, which reduces the risk of detecting individuals outside the designated area. Zigbee's limited range and signal strength make it ideal for contained environments, where detecting occupants in neighboring rooms or beyond the intended area is not desirable. This feature ensures that Zigbee-based systems can focus on the target area without the risk of cross-room detection, making it well-suited for applications where confined space monitoring is essential, such as in hotels or residential buildings. [63]

# 4.6. Sensor LiDAR

LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) is a technology that uses laser pulses to measure distances and create three-dimensional maps of an environment. It is highly effective in detecting and mapping the presence of objects or people. [66]

### 4.6.1. Detection Principles

LiDAR operates by emitting pulses of laser light, typically in the near-infrared spectrum, and measuring the time it takes for the light to bounce back from an object. By calculating the time of flight (ToF), the sensor determines the distance to the object, allowing it to generate 3D spatial data of the environment. [67] This data can then be used to create detailed three-dimensional models, making LiDAR an ideal choice for applications

where precise detection and mapping are required, such as in autonomous vehicles or robotics. [68]

## 4.6.2. Accuracy and Robustness

LiDAR provides exceptional accuracy, often within millimeters, making it one of the most precise detection technologies available. This high level of accuracy is particularly beneficial for detecting and tracking human movements in complex environments, such as urban settings or indoor spaces. [67] However, environmental factors like fog, heavy rain, or dust can interfere with the laser pulses, reducing the accuracy of the system in adverse conditions. Despite these limitations, LiDAR remains highly robust in clear environments and can deliver reliable detection where other technologies might struggle. [67]

## 4.6.3. Scalability and Complexity

LiDAR systems are typically complex and expensive, limiting their scalability, especially for large-scale deployments. The high cost is not only associated with the hardware (sensors) but also the processing power required to manage and interpret the vast amounts of data generated by the system. [69] Due to these complexities, LiDAR is more commonly used in specialized applications like autonomous driving, industrial automation, or high-precision surveying, rather than in everyday or large-scale environments. While LiDAR can be integrated into large networks for broader coverage, the complexity and costs associated with installation and data processing make it less suitable for applications where cost efficiency is a priority. [69]

# 4.6.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

LiDAR sensors are expensive, but the need for powerful processing systems to handle the data further increases the overall cost of implementation. [70] This makes LiDAR a less viable option for environments where cost is a significant consideration, such as in residential or commercial settings. The installation of LiDAR systems also requires calibration and careful placement to ensure accurate data collection, especially in environments with obstacles or varying surfaces. Specialized technicians are often needed to install and maintain these systems, adding to the overall complexity and cost of deployment. [70]

# 4.6.5. Privacy Considerations

Unlike visual surveillance technologies such as cameras, LiDAR does not capture visual images or audio data, which significantly reduces privacy concerns. [71] Since LiDAR operates by measuring laser pulses, it only gathers spatial data about the environment, making it a non-invasive solution for detecting human presence without compromising personal privacy. This makes it ideal for use in settings where privacy is critical, such as healthcare facilities or private spaces. [71]

# 4.6.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

Since LiDAR does not rely on signals that penetrate walls, the risk of detecting individuals outside the intended area is minimized. The laser pulses used by LiDAR are generally

absorbed or reflected by solid surfaces like walls, meaning that detection is confined to the area directly within the line of sight of the sensor. This feature makes LiDAR an ideal solution for focused detection in confined spaces, such as hotel rooms or indoor environments, where the detection of individuals outside the target area could present privacy concerns. [72]

# 4.7. Passive Infrared Sensors (PIR)

Passive Infrared (PIR) sensors detect infrared radiation emitted by objects, particularly from human bodies, by identifying temperature variations in the environment. [73] These sensors are highly effective in detecting human presence by recognizing small differences in infrared radiation between the human body and its surroundings. PIR sensors do not emit radiation; instead, they passively receive infrared waves, which makes them highly efficient for indoor applications.[73]

# 4.7.1. Detection Principles

PIR sensors work by detecting infrared radiation emitted by warm objects, such as humans. When an object with a temperature different from the ambient environment moves within the sensor's field of view, the PIR sensor registers this change in infrared radiation. [74] These sensors are most effective when there is a significant difference between the background temperature and the object being detected. [74]

# 4.7.2. Accuracy and Robustness

PIR sensors are generally accurate within their detection range, which typically covers around 10 meters. They are sensitive to movement and temperature changes, which allows for reliable detection of human presence in controlled environments. [74] However, their performance may be diminished in areas with rapidly changing temperatures or multiple heat sources, but they are well-suited for typical indoor environments where human movement is the primary detection goal. [74]

# 4.7.3. Scalability and Complexity

Due to their simplicity and ease of installation they can be integrated into a wide variety of smart home or building management systems with minimal effort, as they do not require complex calibration or extensive infrastructure. [75] Additionally, PIR sensors have low power consumption, which further simplifies their integration into battery-powered devices or energy-efficient systems. **yeonjin2021advances** 

# 4.7.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

The low cost of PIR sensors makes them a popular choice for detecting human presence in a variety of settings. They are inexpensive to manufacture and purchase, and their installation is straightforward, requiring minimal technical knowledge. [76] PIR sensors can be easily integrated into existing electrical systems, making them a cost-effective solution for motion detection and automation.

### 4.7.5. Privacy Considerations

PIR sensors are considered non-invasive because they do not capture any personally identifiable information. Unlike technologies such as cameras or microphones, PIR sensors only detect infrared radiation, meaning they cannot record images or sounds. This makes them ideal for use in settings where privacy is a concern, such as hotel rooms or private homes. [73] The fact that they do not gather any visual or audio data further reduces privacy risks, making PIR sensors a safe option for maintaining privacy while ensuring human detection.

## 4.7.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

Since PIR sensors rely on infrared radiation emitted from objects within their immediate range, their detection capability is restricted to the room or space where they are installed, making them an ideal choice for room-specific detection applications. [73]

# 4.8. Ultrasonic Sensors

Ultrasonic sensors detect objects by emitting high-frequency sound waves and measuring the time it takes for the echo to return after bouncing off an object. **auptmann2002application** This method allows the sensor to determine the distance to the object based on the speed of sound in the environment. These sensors are widely used for proximity detection and are effective even in challenging conditions such as fog, dust, or in the presence of certain materials. [77]

# 4.8.1. Detection Principles

Ultrasonic sensors emit sound waves at frequencies above the human hearing range (typically between 20 kHz and 40 kHz), which reflect off objects. [78] By measuring the time of flight of the sound waves, the sensor calculates the distance to the object. This technology is particularly effective in environments where optical sensors may fail, such as in dusty or foggy conditions. Ultrasonic sensors are commonly used for human presence detection in applications like automated doors, parking sensors and robotics. [79]

### 4.8.2. Accuracy and Robustness

Ultrasonic sensors are generally very precise within their typical detection range of up to 5 meters, though this range can vary based on environmental conditions. [78] They are robust and perform reliably even in noisy environments, though extreme levels of sound interference can impact their accuracy. One key advantage of ultrasonic sensors is their ability to detect objects regardless of surface characteristics, which makes them highly effective in detecting human presence in a variety of conditions. [77] However, their accuracy may be reduced when detecting small or very soft objects, as these might not reflect sound waves as effectively. [79]

# 4.8.3. Scalability and Complexity

While ultrasonic sensors are relatively easy to implement on a small scale, they require more complex arrangements when deployed in large areas. To cover a larger space, multiple

sensors need to be installed, which increases both the complexity and cost of the system. [80]

## 4.8.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

Ultrasonic sensors are generally affordable, especially for smaller installations, but the cost increases when many sensors are required to cover larger areas. Installation is typically straightforward, but in more complex setups, it may require careful calibration to avoid interference between sensors. **auptmann2002application** 

### 4.8.5. Privacy Considerations

Ultrasonic sensors do not raise significant privacy concerns, as they do not capture personal data such as images or audio. These sensors operate by detecting the presence of objects through sound waves, making them an ideal solution for environments where privacy is a priority, such as hotel rooms or residential spaces. [81]

## 4.8.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

The risk of detecting individuals outside the designated area is low with ultrasonic sensors, as sound waves typically do not pass through solid surfaces like walls. [78] This feature ensures that detection remains focused on the intended space, minimizing the risk of false detections or interference from neighboring areas.

# 4.9. Radar

Radar technology operates by transmitting radio waves and measuring the reflected signals to detect objects, movement, and range. [82] Radar sensors are widely used for human presence detection due to their ability to detect even the smallest movements, such as breathing or subtle body shifts, they are also, highly versatile, allowing for detection in both line-of-sight and non-line-of-sight conditions. [83]

# 4.9.1. Detection Principles

Radar sensors emit radio waves that bounce off objects and return to the sensor. [82] The sensor then measures the time of flight and Doppler shift in the returning waves to calculate the distance, speed, and movement of the object. Unlike other detection technologies. Radar systems can operate in all weather conditions and are effective in low visibility environments such as fog or darkness. [84]

### 4.9.2. Accuracy and Robustness

Radar technology is known for its high accuracy and robustness, especially in environments where visual or infrared-based sensors might struggle. Radar can detect motion through walls, obstacles, and low-visibility conditions, making it highly reliable in complex environments. [84] However, signal interference from nearby devices operating in similar frequency bands can affect accuracy, although modern radar systems use techniques to mitigate interference. [85]

### 4.9.3. Scalability and Complexity

While radar systems are highly scalable, they tend to be more complex than other detection technologies due to the signal processing required to interpret the data. Deploying radar across large areas may require more sophisticated signal processing and networking systems, but their ability to function in non-line-of-sight environments makes them a versatile choice for both indoor and outdoor applications. [86]

### 4.9.4. Cost and Installation Requirements

The cost of radar technology varies depending on the resolution and range required. Higher-resolution radar sensors, which are capable of detecting fine movements like breathing, are generally more expensive due to the advanced signal processing needed. Installation also requires specialized expertise, as radar sensors must be calibrated to account for the environment and potential interference from other devices. [84]

### 4.9.5. Privacy Considerations

Radar sensors do not capture visual or audio data, making them less likely to raise privacy concerns compared to technologies like cameras. However, radar's ability to detect movement through walls can pose potential privacy risks, a proper configuration and calibration are essential to avoid unwanted detections outside the intended area. [87]

### 4.9.6. Risk of Detection Outside the Room

Due to its ability to penetrate walls and obstacles, radar sensors can detect movement in adjacent rooms or areas outside the intended detection zone if not properly configured, which could lead to false detection if not roper calibration. [87]

# 4.10. Comparative Table of Detection Technologies

A comparative table is drawn up with the above-mentioned bibliography and the data presented in the previous section.

As can be seen, within the parameters of comparison that were established at the time of evaluating each of the proposed technologies, the following ones are included:

- Network to be used, or rather, technology to be used.
- Detection principle, or principle of algorithm to be used, of those shown above, having some benefits or weaknesses depending on the situation.
- Precision, rather, in this section, is the accuracy with which it can detect an object within the area that seeks to find a person.
- Stability, it looks for the robustness that this type of technology has, and how complicated it is to use it, depending on the situation.
- Cost: Indicates what is the cost of implementing this type of technology, indicating if any of these is more expensive than another, having this type of item as a virtue or as something negative.

System	Network	Accuracy and Ro- bustness	Method	Scalability and Complexity	Cost and Requi- rements	Privacy	Detection Risk	Advantage	Disadvantage
ToF (Time of Flight)	Infrared	Up to 1 mm	ToF	High, specialized sensors	Expensive, powerful processors	High	Low	A: High ac- curacy	D: Expensive.
Wi-Fi	WLAN	2.26m in 312 m <sup>2</sup>	Triangulation	High, uses existing network	Low cost	Low	High	A: Reuses in- frastructure	D: Low accu- racy.
UWB	UWB	Tens of cm	TDoA and AoA	High, 3D coverage	Expensive, advanced infras- tructure	Moderate	Low	A: High ac- curacy	D: High cost.
Zigbee	Zigbee	Meters	RSSI	High, moderate scalability	Low cost	Low	Medium	A: Scalable	D: Low accu- racy.
Bluetooth	Bluetooth	1-10 meters	RSSI	High, very scalable	Low cost	Low	High	A: Compati- ble with mo- bile devices.	D: Low accuracy.
RFID	RFID	2-3 meters	TDoA	High, limited cove- rage	Low cost	High	Low	A: Unique object iden- tification.	D: Requires extensive in- frastructure components.
LiDAR Sen- sor	Laser	Millimeters to centime- ters	ToF	High, specialized sensors	Expensive, requires advanced processing	High	Low	A: High 3D accuracy.	D: Very expen- sive and high complexity.

Table 1: Comparative Table of Detection Technologies

- Privacy: Important point in this report because with this is dismissed certain technologies or applications that are used for this situation, because to a large extent, it has that privacy for a hotel system is essential, because if it is not found with this type of situations, people can be annoyed by this point.
- As a point to summarize, we have the advantages and disadvantages for each technology, having a mini summary of each of these.

# 5. Analysis of Commercially Available Devices

In this section the study will focused in reviewing the current technologies, available in the market, taking into consideration product brief description, performance metrics, cost and installation/maintenance requirements.

# 5.1. Philips Hue Motion Sensor

It is a sensor designed for smart home automation, specifically to control the lighting of the Philips Hue system. It detects the presence of people using infrared radiation emitted by the human body, allowing lights to turn on automatically when someone enters a room and turn off when motion is no longer detected. It is compatible with systems such as Alexa, Google Assistant and Apple HomeKit, offering intelligent lighting control [88].

- **Performance Metrics** : Detects motion at a maximum distance of 5 meters, with a 100° angle. It is optimized for Philips Hue lights, with minimal turn-on latency [88].
- **Cost**: \$39.99 USD.
- Installation and Maintenance Requirements Installation requirements: Simple installation with tape or screws. Operates on two AAA batteries, with a life of up to 2 years, requiring only battery replacement [88].



Fig. 6: Philips Hue Motion Sensor [88].

# 5.2. Ecolink Z-Wave Plus Motion Detector

It is a motion sensor that integrates with home automation systems using Z-Wave technology. Its passive infrared sensor detects changes in the thermal radiation of an environment to identify human presence. It is ideal for security systems and has a special mode to avoid false pet alarms. It can also be activated with other smart home devices to turn on lights or cameras. [89]

- Performance Metrics : It detects motion at a maximum distance of 5 meters, with an angle of 100°. It is optimized for Philips Hue lights, with minimum turn-on latency [89]
- Cost: \$ 29.99 USD.

• Installation and Maintenance Requirements : Easy to install when paired with a Z-Wave hub. Powered by a CR123A lithium battery, with a battery life of up to 5 years [89]

# 5.3. Honeywell IS3050A

It is a dual-technology motion sensor that combines passive infrared (PIR) detection with ultrasound for increased accuracy. The combination of these technologies helps reduce false positives and improves detection capability even in complex conditions, such as drafty or hot areas. It is primarily used in advanced security systems. [90]

- **Performance Metrics** : Combination of passive infrared and ultrasound, with a detection range of up to 15 meters and a coverage angle of 90°. [90]
- **Price**: \$ 79.99 USD.
- Installation and Maintenance Requirements : Requires professional installation in many cases, due to the combination of technologies. Low maintenance once properly installed. [90]



Fig. 7: Honeywell IS3050A [90]

# 5.4. Aqara Human Presence Sensor FP1

It is a device which uses radar technology to detect human presence in a room, even in situations where there is minimal movement, such as when a person is sitting or breathing. This sensor is ideal for home automation applications, as it can control lighting, heating and other devices based on room occupancy. It is especially useful in spaces where continuous sensing is desired without the need for constant motion. [91]

- **Performance Metrics**: Uses 60 GHz radar technology, capable of detecting the presence of people without motion, even through thin walls. Detection range up to 5 meters [91].
- **Price**: \$ 99.99 USD.
- Installation and Maintenance Requirements: Easy installation on ceilings or walls. Powered by a USB-C cable, eliminating the need to change batteries. [91]

# 5.5. Nest Cam IQ Indoor

It is a smart security camera designed for the home, with facial recognition capability. It uses artificial vision algorithms to identify people and differentiate between humans, pets or moving objects. It offers high-definition video and personalized notifications that alert the user about activity in their home. This camera is part of the Google Nest ecosystem and integrates seamlessly with other smart devices [92]

- **Performance Metrics**: Camera with facial recognition, 1080p resolution and 12x digital zoom. Detects people and sends real-time alerts to the Google Home app. Only detects people who are in the line of sight of the device, as it analyzes faces and figures by itself. [92]
- **Cost**: \$ 299 USD.
- Installation and maintance requerimients: Easy to install and configure using the Google Home app. Requires constant connection to power and internet. Minimal maintenance, with automatic firmware updates. [92]



Fig. 8: Nest Cam IQ Indoor [92].

# 5.6. Smartmat

It is a mat equipped with pressure sensors that detect the presence of people when they stand or sit on it. It is designed for applications in smart homes, such as device control, or in healthcare environments, to monitor the activity of elderly people. Although its technology is relatively simple, its application is versatile in automation and healthcare systems. [93]

- **Performance Metrics**: Pressure sensor that detects when a person sits or stands on it. It could be used to indicate when the guest enters and leaves the room, because as it is a pressure sensor, the mat will indicate if it was pressed for a certain time [93].
- **Cost**: \$ 149 USD.
- Installation and maintance requerimients: Easy to install (just place it on the floor). Does not require regular maintenance, it is only necessary to check the condition of the device [93].

# 5.7. Velodyne LiDAR VLP-16

Also known as Puck, it is a compact LiDAR sensor used primarily in autonomous vehicles and robotics to map 3D environments. However, it is also used in advanced security systems to detect the presence of people in a space by analyzing distances and shapes. This technology is extremely accurate, even in dark or low visibility environments [94].

- **Performance Metrics**: LiDAR sensor maps 3D environments with a range of up to 100 meters and an acquisition rate of 300,000 points per second (Ouster,n.d).
- **Cost**: \$ 3999 USD.
- Installation and maintance requerimients: Requires professional installation and specialized software to interpret the data. Maintenance includes periodic calibration and cleaning of the optical sensors [94].



Fig. 9: Velodyne Lida VLP-16 [94].

# 6. Case Study: Hotel Room Implementation

# 6.1. Selected Sensor

For the development of this thesis, the P-NUCLEO-53L7A1 was used, this VL53L7CX STM32 Nucleo pack with X-NUCLEO-53L7A1 expansion board and NUCLEO-F401RE de-

velopment board, it conforms a complete evaluation kit that allows to learn, evaluate, and develop applications using the VL53L7CX Time-of-Flight 8x8 multizone ranging sensor with 90° FoV. [95]



Fig. 10: P-NUCLEO-53L7A1, Evaluation Kit. [95]

The X-NUCLEO-53L7A1 of the kit, is an expansion board for any STM32 Nucleo board. It allows the user to test the VL53L7CX sensor functionality, to program it and to understand how to develop an application using this sensor. This expansion board integrates the VL53L7CX sensor, Arduino UNO R3 connectors and connectors for SATEL-VL53L7CX optional breakout boards. [95]



Fig. 11: X-NUCLEO-53L7A1, Expansion Board. [95]

The kit also includes a NUCLEO-F401RE development board, this STM32 Nucleo-64 board provides an affordable and flexible way for users to try out new concepts and build pro-

to types by choosing from the various combinations of performance and power consumption features provided by the STM32 microcontroller. [95]



Fig. 12: NUCLEO-F401RE, Development Board. [95]

This evaluation kit was chosen considering: [95]

- The VL53L7CX Time-of-Flight sensor offers a 90° diagonal FoV, specifically designed for applications that require an ultrawide FoV.
- Based on ST FlightSense technology, the sensor incorporates an efficient metasurface lens (DOE - Diffractive Optical Element) placed on the laser emitter, enabling the projection of a 60° x 60° square FoV onto the scene.
- Its multizone capability provides a matrix of 8x8 zones (64 zones) and can work at fast speeds (60 Hz) up to 350 cm.
- ST patented algorithms and innovative module construction allow the VL53L7CX to detect, in each zone, multiple objects within the FoV with depth understanding.
- Like all Time-of-Flight (ToF) sensors based on ST FlightSense technology, the VL53L7CX records, in each zone, an absolute distance regardless of the target color and reflectance.

These features make the sensor optimal for detecting people inside a hotel room.

# 6.2. Installation and Configuration

In order to detect the presence of people in hotel rooms and save energy when empty, tests were carried out in an apartment with characteristics similar to those of a hotel room. And to facilitate both, installation and correct location, the P-NUCLEO-53L7A1 evaluation kit was adapted to a box, which allowed proper positioning.

A webcam was integrated into the same box, whose function is to verify the accuracy of the sensor measurements. By sharing the same field of view, the camera will confirm that

the data is consistent and matches what is happening in the room. Figure 13 shows the sensor configuration, previously described.



Fig. 13: Sensor Configuration.

The sensor was installed in the center of the ceiling, as seen in the Figure 14, ensuring that its detection field covered the access to the room, since people must always pass through there, either to enter or leave. This is a strategic point, as generally in this area there is also the coat rack where jackets and keys are placed, as well as the shoe rack where people leave their shoes before entering. In addition, the sensor also covers the access door to the bathroom, which allows collecting a greater amount of data to detect the presence of people.



Fig. 14: Sensor Location.

# 6.3. Data Collection

Once the sensor was located at the ceiling of the room, data acquisition was carried out using the STSW-IMG048 software developed by STMicroelectronics.[37] This software is a Complete turnkey solution for Smart Presence Detection (SPD) with advanced algorithms using time-of-flight (ToF) sensors, that uses motion detection to accurately detect the presence and position of people. [95]

The advanced algorithms offer five features to enhance system efficiency and the user experience. Unlike standard ToF sensors that do not include advanced algorithms, ST's SPD solution is able to track a person's position, filter passing-by movement, wake the system up when someone steps in front of the device, and distinguish immobile humans from objects. [95]

Using a turnkey solution based on FlightSense technology provides full privacy as it uses ST's ToF sensors to compute distance information without the need for a camera module. The solution's performance is not affected by target reflectance, making it suitable for use in low light conditions. [95]

The sensor has a motion detector feature embedded in its firmware and can differentiate a human from an object. Moving objects wake up the system, which analyzes and decides if this is an object or a human. [95]

The procedure for acquiring data with the software is described step by step below:

Firstly, connect the board via a USB to Micro-USB cable and the webcam via a USB cable to the PC. Then, open the FW folder in the Smart Presence Detection EVK repository to find the firmware compatible with the VL53L7CX sensor. [95]



Fig. 15: Firmware Folder.

Subsequently, drag and drop the .bin file to flash the board.

SmartPresenceDetectionEVK_v1.0.0 > FW
Name
SmartPresenceDetectionKit.bin
NOD_F40TRE (D)     The UV     Copy to NOD_F40TRE (D)     Network

Fig. 16: Smart Presence Detection Firmware.

To launch the Smart Presence Detection  $EVK\ GUI$  software, Double-click on the .exe file in the SmartPresenceDetectionEVK folder.

SmartPresenceDetectionEVK
Name
gridpos graphDesigns
winConfigs
SmartPresenceDetectionEVK

Fig. 17: Smart Presence Detection EVK GUI.

It is necessary to ensure that:

- The board is automatically detected and selected. If not, the *Com port* list should be refreshed and then select a board flashed with the firmware.
- Select the sensor driver: SmartPresenceDetection VL53L7
- Select the preset: 8x8.

SmartPresenceD	et	-		$\times$
<b>L7</b> /	Sn De <sub>Versi</sub>	nart tect	Prese ion E	ence VK
User Guide		📝 Rel	ease note	s
C COM3 - STM	croeled	ctronics S /L53L7	Co STLink Virt Sensor	m port tuz ~ driver ~
				Preset
8x8				~
5	oad da	inging		
	.000 00	ataset		

Fig. 18: Smart Presence Detection GUI Configuration.

Once the above is set up, click on *Start ranging* to start the measurement with the sensor. A window, similar to the one in Figure 19 will launch, in which the sensor's field can be observed divided into 64 zones (8x8), and in each of them, a number corresponding to the distance at which the objects are located in this same field.

betern EVK Versen La 2 te	1920 1850 1868 52 54	1842 1840 53 49 50	1846 1837 48 48 51	1842 1825 50 48 1844	1843 1836 1838 1840 1839	1846 1828 1837 1852 1852	1856 1848 1826 1814 1828	1925 1857 1839 1831	HostBeeTime HostBeeTime -anging period -anging period -perence -userCoN_X -userCoN_X -userCoN_X -userCoN_X -userCoN_X -true -tr	10102024125142 102024125142 10702 10702 10705 10755 107555 10805 10805 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109
Verse 1.3.3 (a) Proteins inne Corr por Stresselations 2114 Corr data Scand data Corr data Corr data Scand data	1920 1850 1868 52 54	1842 1840 53 49 50	1846 1837 48 48 51	1842 1825 50 48 1844	1843 1836 1838 1840 1839	1846 1828 1837 1852 1852	1856 1848 1826 1814 1828	1925 1857 1839 1831	Heatbask Inte -curr, 150 -curr, 150 -cu	10)=2022(12)=12 10)=2022(12)=12 106 106 107 107 107 107 107 10 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
6 Con port	1850 1868 52 54	1840 53 49 50	1837 48 48 51	1825 50 48 1844	1836 1838 1840 1839	1828 1837 1852 1852	1848 1826 1814 1828	1857 1839 1831	energies and a second and a second and a second	10702 10703 1709 1. -7.755 -45525 135475 2.00 0.0 0.0 1. -7 -7 -1. -7 -3. -3. -3. -3. -3. -3. -3. -3.
te ge Makada notici Con por Stratevidences Strata Veta ∞ Senar Veta detection VL33.7 → Poor Stop Stop g deta ov 0 8 sec	1850 1868 52 54	1840 53 49 50	1837 48 48 51	1825 50 48 1844	1836 1838 1840 1839	1828 1837 1852 1852	1848 1826 1814 1828	1857 1839 1831 1836	-on-state state 	9/16 169 -775 -45525 133675 200 0.00 1 3 1 7 -10 31 0 -445 -312 -1300
Com yor Stherewishermen STate What = Search draw with the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the	1850 1868 52 54	1840 53 49 50	1837 48 48 51	1825 50 48 1844	1836 1838 1840 1839	1828 1837 1852 1852	1848 1826 1814 1828	1857 1839 1831 1836	-anging_period -presence -greeCoM_V -userCoM_V -userCoM_Z -speed_nom -homan_gepatrae_detected -State -homan_gepatrae_detected -State -NOCOUses -IntruderMent -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX -UserPresitionX	176 175 458.25 200 600 1 3 1 -7 -10 31 0 -445 -312 1306 1 -312 1306 -312 -312 1306 -312 -312 -312 -312 -312 -3126 -3166 -
Core port Thistowischerson STLak Verlag Search Verlag Prost Stady	1850 1868 52 54	1840 53 49 50	1837 48 48 51	1825 50 48 1844	1836 1838 1840 1839	1828 1837 1852 1852	1848 1826 1814 1828	1857 1839 1831 1836	- Jene Cold, X - user Cold, X - user Cold, Y - user Cold, Z - gread, norm - human, departure, detected - State - Nord/Resident - Human/Resident - User/Resident - User	7.75 -455.25 -455.25 -2000 0.00 1 3 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7 -7
Clampan Theoretical model and the General VLBU Control of the Control VLBU Control of the Stop g (dd) ( or ) = g ( act	1850 1868 52 54	1840 53 49 50	48 48 48 51	1825 50 48 1844	1836 1838 1840 1839	1828 1837 1852 1852	1848 1826 1814 1828	1857 1839 1831 1836	- Janet Color, X - Janet Color, X - Janet Color, X - Janet, Joon - State - NEO/Uses - Intruder Meet - User/Position X -	- /13.8.55 - 43.8.75 - 13.8.75 - 20.00 1 3 1 - 7 - 10 - 31 0 - 44.5 - 312 - 1306
Com port Theorement Theorement Theorement Theorement Theorement Theorement Statement Theorement State  State St	1868 52 54	53 49 50	48 48 51	50 48 1844	1838 1840 1839	1837 1852 1852	1826 1814 1828	1839 1831	-aweCoN_2 -aweCoN_Z -apead_nom -human_apepture_dstected -State -NOCNUres -IntruderMet -User/PeationX -User/PeationX -User/PeationX -User/PationZ -User/PationX -User/PationX -User/PationX -User/PationX -User/PationX	-493,25 133,75 200 0,00 1 3 1 -7 -10 31 0 -445 -312 1306
Stop Same for Press Press Stop Stop (ddo (v v) 0 sec	1868 52 54	53 49 50	48 48 51	50 48 1844	1838 1840 1839	1837 1852 1852	1826 1814 1828	1839 1831 1836	-awe(Jon), 2 -speed, Jonn -human, departure, detected -State -NorOUtiens -IntruderMet -User@PositionX -User@PositionX -User@PositionX -UserTPositionX -UserTPositionX -UserTPositionX	1358.19 2200 1 3 1 -7 -7 -10 31 0 -445 -312 -1308
Serve Ahue Meterion VS3/2 Pread Stop deb ev 0 sec	1868 52 54	53 49 50	48 48 51	50 48 1844	1838 1840 1839	1837 1852 1852	1826 1814 1828	1839 1831 1836	-speed_science -human_departure_detected -State -hutoderAlert -UserOPerationY -UserOPerationY -UserOPerationY -UserOPerationY -UserOperationY -UserOperationY -UserOperationY -UserOperationY -UserOperationY	2000 1 3 1 -7 -70 -70 -710 31 0 -445 -312 -332
selector V33:7 → Proof 5009 500 Cor ∨ 0 9 sec	1868 52 54	53 49 50	48 48 51	50 48 1844	1838 1840 1839	1837 1852 1852	1826 1814 1828	1839 1831 1836	-Indiana, Capacital, Oracida State -NotOffisers -IndruderAlert -User@PositionX -User@PositionZ -User@PositionX -User@PositionX -UserFositionX -UserFositionX -UserFositionZ	0000 1 3 -7 -70 31 0 -445 -312 1308
Step Bep dda ev v 0 sc	52 54	49 50	40 48 51	48 1844	1840 1839	1852 1852	1814 1828	1831	- Salar - NhCOTisers - IntruderAlert - UserOPosition X - UserOPosition Z - UserOPosition X - User Position X - User Position X - User Position Z	3 1 -7 -10 31 0 -445 -312 1308
500p 600 0 900	52 54	49 50	48 51	48 1844	1840 1839	1852 1852	1814 1828	1831	-InstructAlers -InstructAlert -UserOfbsitionX -UserOfbsitionY -UserOfbsitionZ -UserIPositionX -UserIPositionZ	3 1 -7 -10 31 0 -445 -312 1308
Stop Sta Ma Ger V 0 sec	52 54	49 50	48 51	48 1844	1840 1839	1852 1852	1814 1828	1831	- UserObsitionX - UserObsitionX - UserObsitionZ - UserObsitionZ - UserIbsitionX - UserIbsitionY - UserIbsitionZ	-7 -70 31 04 -445 -312 1306
Step dets 0 sec	52 54	49 50	48 51	48 1844	1840 1839	1852 1852	1814 1828	1831	-User/PositionY -User/PositionZ -User/Intruder -User/PositionX -User/PositionX -User/PositionZ	-10 31 0 -445 -312 1308
52ap 56a 0 sec	52 54	49 50	48 51	48 1844	1840 1839	1852 1852	1814 1828	1831	-UserOPositionZ -UserOPositionZ -UserIPositionX -UserIPositionY -UserIPositionZ	31 0 -445 -312 1308
Sop deta ov ∨ 0 soc	54	50	51	1844	1839	1852	1828	1836	-User0Intruder -User1PositionX -User1PositionY -User1PositionZ	-445 -312 1306
50p da 0 sec	54	50	51	1844	1839	1852	1828	1836	-User1PositionX -User1PositionX -User1PositionY -User1PositionZ	-445 -312 1308
Stop sta cav v 0 sec	54	50	51	1844	1839	1852	1828	1836	-UserTPositionX -UserTPositionY -UserTPositionZ	-445 -312 1308
Stop ata 0 sec	54	50	51	1844	1839	1852	1828	1836	-User1PositionZ	1308
Stop ta 0 sec	54	50	51	1844	1839	1852	1828	1836	-User (Position2	1300
Stop Ma er v 0 sec	04	00	01	1044	1000	1002	1020		I I should be transformed as a	4
Stop eta Ctr v 0 sec								1000	-User1Intruder	1
Stop sta csv v 0 sec									-User2PositionX	-/
ta 0 sec									-User2PositionY	-455
sta csv ~ 0 sec									-User2Position2	1336
	1752	1806	1818	1846	1849	1836	1838	1848	-Userzintruder	0
									-User3PositionA	-344
									-User3PositionY	-344
									-User3Positionz	1441
	1000		4700	1700	4047	4000	4000	40.40	-UserSintruder	0
	1308	34	1/33	1798	1817	1826	1832	1840	-aigo_out_obstructed_FoV	0.00
									-aigo_out_no_target	0.00
		4							-aigo_out_scene_change	0.95
									-aigo_out_static_close_object	0.00
	24	24	22	1075	1416	1740	1700	1001	-aigo_out_user_tracking	1.00
	31	31	- 33	1275	1410	1749	1789	1991	-aigo_out_user_approaching	0.00
									so_grobal_indicator_1	0
									so_status	0
		144	Elia / cotato	Cala	-	Camora	50	to an	so_no_or_oetected_aggregates	0
	Date of the	σγ	rup / rotate	Colo	X 900 M	Camera	Fo	o, endument	so_nb_ot_aggregates	16
	Data disp								sodetection_threshold	44.00
nbedded display 🖾 •	Data disp									

Fig. 19: Smart Presence Detection EVK Interface.

To display the live webcam feed, click on *Display camera* and the camera image should appear, if it does not occur, make sure that the webcam is functional. When several webcams are connected to the laptop, it is necessary to change the *Camera id* until get the desired camera image.

Data display Flip	/ rotate Colorscale	Camera	FoV alignment
	Camera id 0	[4:3] 640x4	80 ~
Display camera	Framerate [Hz] 3	Blur	image

Fig. 20: Webcam Configuration.

After this configuration, the interface should look like Figure 21, with the camera image overlapping and merging with the sensor's distance measurements.

SmartPresenceDe	etectionEVK - Sensor con	ol										- 0	1
	Smart Presen	ce								Field	Value		
<b>-</b> 7/	Version 1.0.0	·								.HostDateTime	10102024.142713		
THE Lines Cuide	Relance notes	115								-curr tsto	450847		
and over date	E	= 115 <sup>°</sup>	1 1229	1238	1284	1268	1261	1241	1085	-ranging_period	197		
										-presence	1		
					107	1.		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	10000	-userCoM_X	-68.75		
	Com p	rt								-userCoM_Y	40.75		
C COM3 - STMi	croelectronics STLink Virtuz	1298	3	1832	1965		1367	1358	918	-userCow_2	925.25		
	Sansnr dri			TOOL	1000		1001	1000		-speed_nonn	0.00		
	oction 10 521 7									-State	1		
							1			-NbOfUsers	2		
	Pre	e 104		004	1010	1011	C	1110	004	-IntruderAlert	0		
348		1310	о́	991	1010	1244		1140	994	-User0PositionX	-68		
										-User0PositionY	40		
						1				-User0PositionZ	923		
						1				-UserOIntruder	0		
		1350		003	718		1308	1058	021	-User1PositionX	-107		
		1330		335	/10		1300	1000	321	-UserTPosition*	244		
							1000			-UserTestion2	0		
						11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1612.84	1000	- N	-User2PositionX	93		
				1000			153	1.5	122	-User2PositionY	96		
	Stop	133	1 2390	986	838	736	1111	1200	1028	-User2PositionZ	1167		
									1000	-User2Intruder	0		
			-				1/	- 01		-User3PositionX	-448		
				11211Co						-User3PositionY	-64		
		121	7			1945	10.0	1216	1001	-User3PositionZ	1316		
		131				1045	Contraction of the	1310	1091	-UserSintruder	0		
							10000			-algo_out_costructed_FoV	0.00		
			-	Contractory of Contractory					1000	-algo_out_scene_change	0.98		
		100	1							-algo out static dose object	0.00		
		1302	2 1868			1793		1560	1104	-algo out user tracking	1.00		
							1000			-algo_out_user_approaching	0.00		
				State of the second			ALC: NOTE: N			sci_global_indicator_1	0		
										sci_status	6		
		125	1	2420	2444	2470	2272	1467	1004	scinb_of_detected_aggregates	0		
		125		2439	2444	24/0	2213		1094	sci_nb_of_aggregates	16		
										sci_detection_threshold	44.00		
Hide emb	bedded display 🖉 •									MoscuredPaggionBeriod	0 196		
	_ <b>1</b>									MeasuredRangingFeriod	511		
	the state of the s	*				-							

Fig. 21: Smart Presence Detection EVK Interface and Webcam Image.

To start data logging (recording), the file format must be selected and then click on the *Log data* button, after that the button should turn blue.

Stop		
Log data	CSV	15 sec

Fig. 22: Log Data Configuration.

Once data logging has started, a sequence of tests are performed in order to verify the operation of the sensor, these will be described in the following section. And, when the tests are finished, click again on the *Log data* button to stop data logging.

The acquired data is stored in the folder *data*, located in the same folder where the software is, here a new folder will be created whose name contains the date and time of capture, as can be seen in Figure 23.

SmartPresenceDetectionEVK_v1.0.0 > data
Name
log_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20240921_193538
Iog_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20240923_185701
Iog_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20240923_190940
Iog_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20240929_201901
Iog_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20241010_142531
Iog_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20241011_164734
Iog_VL53L7CX_SPDKit_8x8_20241011_165052
Fig. 23: Data Folder.

Using Smart Presence Detection EVK logger allows to monitor, log and replay all Smart Presence Detection algorithm internal variables.

In order to view the acquired data, open the software and click on *Load dataset* (Figure 24), and select the folder of the previously saved data (Figure 23).



Fig. 24: Load Dataset Configuration.

Finally, an interface like the one in Figure 25 will open where you can see the data acquired in the tests performed.



Fig. 25: Loaded Dataset Interface.

Thanks to numerous features (2D display over camera frame, curve plotting, SPD widget...), Smart Presence Detection EVK allows for deep analysis of any data from the the ST ToF sensor and all parameters of the Smart Presence Detection algorithm. [95]

# 6.4. Performance Evaluation

The primary objective of these tests was to evaluate the potential effectiveness and accuracy of the VL53L7CX sensor in detecting the presence of people in a simulated hotel room environment. The tests aimed to observe the sensor's capability to identify human presence and differentiate between human and non-human objects. Additionally, the tests sought to assess the sensor's integration with the camera feed to ensure consistent data collection and qualitative validation.

The main intention of these tests was to establish whether the VL53L7CX sensor has any potential efficacy or accuracy in detecting the presence of people in an understudy simulated hotel room. The tests intended to evaluate the ability of the sensor to detect human presence and the capacity to distinguish between human substance and other types of objects. In addition, the tests aimed at evaluating the sensor's incorporation with the camera feed for consistency of data collection and qualitative confirmation.

### 6.4.1. Test Environment and Conditions

The tests were conducted in an apartment that closely simulated the layout of a typical hotel room. The environment included common elements that can be found at the entrance of a hotel room, allowing for realistic human interaction with the space. The sensor was installed on the ceiling in a central location, covering key areas such as the room entrance,

bathroom door, and the space around the coat rack and shoe rack. The following conditions were varied during testing to mimic real-world scenarios:

- Lighting: The tests were performed under different lighting conditions, including bright light, dim light, and complete darkness, to qualitatively assess how lighting might influence the sensor's performance.
- **Movement**: Both static and dynamic movements were introduced to observe the sensor's response to people standing still versus those walking in and out of the room. Movements were also recorded at varying distances from the sensor.

### 6.4.2. Test Criteria

The criteria for evaluating the sensor's performance were based on qualitative observations:

- **Detection Accuracy**: The sensor's ability to detect the presence of a person was compared visually with the camera feed.
- **Speed of Detection**: Although exact measurement of detection speed was not recorded, the general responsiveness of the sensor was observed.
- False Positives/Negatives: Instances of the sensor mistakenly identifying human presence (false positives) or failing to detect it when a person was present (false negatives) were noted.
- **Distance Accuracy**: The sensor's precision in estimating the distance of objects and people was qualitatively assessed based on visual analysis.

### 6.4.3. Test Description and Results

The tests were designed to simulate typical scenarios of people entering, moving within, and leaving a hotel room. The sensor's responses were compared with the images captured by the integrated webcam to ensure consistency. By positioning the camera to share the same field of view as the sensor, we ensured that the visual data could be compared directly with the sensor's measurements to verify the accuracy of the detection process.

The test scenario was based on a typical sequence of actions a person might take upon entering a hotel room:

1. Entering the Room: The door opens, and a person enters the room. Upon entering, the person removes their jacket and places it on the coat rack, then proceeds to take off their shoes.



Fig. 26: Results Entering the Room.

2. Movement Within the Room: After removing the shoes and jacket, the person leaves the sensor's field of view by entering the bathroom. This tests whether the sensor accurately detects when the person is no longer in the primary zone.



Fig. 27: Results Entering the Bathroom.

3. **Re-entering the Sensor's View**: After exiting the bathroom, the person retrieves an item from their jacket and then moves towards the far end of the room, potentially



where the bed is located, which is outside the sensor's range. This step tests the sensor's ability to distinguish between brief absences and longer ones.

Fig. 28: Results Re-entering the Sensor's View.

4. **Preparing to Leave**: The person returns to the coat rack, puts on the jacket, then the shoes, and prepares to leave the room.



Fig. 29: Results Preparing to Leave.

Finally, they exit, testing the sensor's ability to detect when the room becomes empty.



Fig. 30: Results Leaving the Room.

During these tests, the VL53L7CX sensor's 8x8 multizone matrix effectively tracked the individual's movements, as can be seen in Figures 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30. Blue boxes are observed when the distance is greater, and red boxes when the distance is shorter, these data vary throughout the tests, and it is possible to observe that the sensor accurately identified when the person entered or exited its field of view, with specific stages clearly reflected in the data.

Real-time data logging from the sensor was consistently aligned with the visual evidence captured by the camera. Each movement and interaction with the room was mirrored in the sensor's data, confirming its ability to detect changes accurately.

Key Observations:

- The sensor successfully detected the individual's movement at the entrance upon entering the room.
- It registered specific actions like the removal of the jacket and the placement of shoes by tracking variations in the distance within the relevant zones.
- When the person exited to the bathroom, the sensor correctly noted the departure from its detection area.
- On returning to the coat rack, the sensor resumed tracking the activity, and ultimately recorded the room as unoccupied when the person left.

These observations demonstrated the sensor's capability to accurately detect both presence and movement within the room's key areas, including the entrance, coat rack, and bathroom. The synchronization with the camera feed was crucial in verifying the sensor's real-time responsiveness and precision.

# 7. Discussion of Results

# 7.1. Summary of Findings

The research conducted on various detection technologies has revealed their significant potential for improving energy efficiency in hotel environments. A wide range of sensors, including Time of Flight (ToF), WiFi, UWB, Bluetooth, RFID, Zigbee, LiDAR, PIR, Ultrasonic and Radar, have been comparated for their capabilities in detecting human presence in confined spaces, taking into account characteristics such as accuracy and robustness, scalability and complexity, cost and instillation requirements, privacy considerations and risk of detection outside the room.

Taking into account the systematic literature review, it is possible to affirm that the VL53L7CX Time of Flight sensor stands out as an appropriate solution for indoor presence detection, especially in hotel rooms, for various reasons:

- **Cost-Effectiveness**: The VL53L7CX has been found to deliver suitable, now dependent performance for the price. Its cost is advantageous as it allows for mass production in the hotel industry, which is necessary for most large-scale implementations while managing cost considerations.
- Ease of Installation and Integration: Since the sensor is small and easy to install, it can be placed in multiple locations inside a room, for instance, on the ceiling and walls. This positioning also helps to enhance coverage without the need for extensive structural changes or prolonged installation time, thus saving both installation and upkeep costs.
- **Privacy Protection**: One of the most beneficial factors of the VL53L7CX sensor is its ability to detect human presence without capturing identifiable personal data, such as pictures or recordings. Unlike cameras, ToF sensors provide a high level of privacy for guests which the hospitality industry requires.
- Energy Efficiency: The VL53L7CX is designed to operate with low power consumption, thus making it ideal for applications such as smart hotel room management systems where energy consumption is critical. The sensor makes it easier to manage energy efficiency within the room because it can efficiently monitor the presence of people, thereby intelligently managing lighting, heating and cooling of the room when necessary.
- Reduced Risk of Detection Errors Outside the Room: The range and detection capability of the VL53L7CX are well-suited for confined spaces. It is set up in such a way that it harbors an interest in the target region of a room decreasing the chances of detecting movement or presence in the outer regions of the primary focus area. This accuracy minimizes the chances of unwanted system activation due to movement detection of other rooms hence increasing the performance of the sensor in relation to occupancy-based automation.
- Adaptability to Various Lighting Conditions: As per the manufacturer's information, the performance of the sensor is reported to be significantly autonomous from

the lighting conditions that the sensor is exposed to including instances when there is no light available at all. This wide operational range enhances the effectiveness of the sensor allowing it to work at any time without having to worry about light level adjustment due.

- Minimization of False Positives/Negatives: While the VL53L7CX sensor reacts to motion, its algorithms are also able to differentiate between humans and non-human elements at their initial stage of detection. This minimizes false positives as when non-moving objects intrude their visual scope. On the contrary, even though the sensor may fail to detect individuals who have sat still for an extended time, the most trivial motion sets up a quick review in response, so the sensor works well to changes.
- Scalability and Versatility: This potential of the sensor to interact with other technologies for room management such as the HVAC (Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning) and lighting makes it a scalable solution. It is easy for hotels to apply it for several rooms or up to an entire floor since it will allow centralized control and supervision.

On the other hand, the results observed from the tests are analyzed as follows:

- Detection Accuracy: The VL53L7CX sensor generally demonstrated good accuracy in detecting human presence under various conditions, with a noticeable improvement in low-light environments. These observations align with the manufacturer's claim that the sensor's performance is not significantly affected by lighting conditions but may be influenced by the reflectance of objects in the environment. In bright lighting scenarios, a slight decrease in precision was observed, likely due to reflections or other optical interferences. It is important to note that these findings are based on qualitative analysis, as no quantitative data was collected.
- **Speed of Detection**: The sensor appeared to respond promptly to movements, but without precise timing measurements, we cannot definitively state its exact detection speed. The observed response seemed reasonably quick across different lighting conditions, supporting its capability for real-time presence detection.
- False Positives/Negatives: During the tests, false positives were noted primarily when non-human objects, such as moving coats or bags, entered the sensor's field of view. However, once these objects stopped moving, the software's built-in algorithms effectively recognized that they were not humans, thereby minimizing the occurrence of sustained false positives. This highlights the sensor's capability to correct initial mistakes by continuously analyzing the scene.

False negatives were primarily observed when a person remained completely still for an extended period. Since the software relies on motion to detect presence, the sensor could temporarily lose track of a person who was motionless. However, as soon as any movement was detected, the software reanalyzed the situation and accurately marked the presence of the individual. This behavior suggests that while the sensor is highly sensitive to movement, its ability to detect stationary individuals could be further improved.

• **Distance Accuracy**: The sensor seemed to provide reasonably accurate distance measurements, especially in the central zones of its field of view. However, since no exact distance values were recorded, we cannot definitively quantify its precision. There was a slight perceived reduction in accuracy at the edges of the field, but this did not significantly impact its overall performance in detecting presence.

Finally, the commercially available indoor presence detection devices are convenient as they are ready to use; however, a custom device built with the use of the VL53L7CX sensor is superior in many respects such as: privacy, effectiveness, versatility, and energy usage. The limitation of the power consumption and the emphasis on the privacy positively make the VL53L7CX sensor fit for environments like hotel rooms where guest experience as well as the efficiency of the operations is important. Moreover, the versatility and affordability of this sensor open the doors for development of custom solutions which will be more efficient than typical solutions available on the market whenever accurate and dependable presence detection is more so required.

# 7.2. Challenges and Trade-offs

While the benefits of these technologies are clear, several challenges and trade-offs must be considered.

Speaking specifically about the VL53L7CX sensor, in addition to its dependency on motion for detecting presence, its precision under high-light conditions was also noted as a challenge. Reflections from brightly lit objects and surfaces affected the sensor's ability to consistently and accurately identify human presence, leading to minor reductions in detection accuracy. Balancing the trade-off between sensitivity to light conditions and maintaining robust presence detection remains a crucial area for development. Optimizing the sensor's performance to ensure it functions effectively regardless of ambient lighting levels is an important consideration for its application in dynamic hotel room environments.

Additionally, cost remains a barrier for many hotels, particularly smaller establishments. Although ToF and thermal imaging technologies offer enhanced performance, their initial investment may deter some operators. However, the long-term energy savings can often offset these costs, leading to improved operational efficiency over time.

# 7.3. Opportunities for Future Research

Future research should focus on developing advanced algorithms that enhance the performance of these technologies in complex environments. For instance, refining the signal processing capabilities of ToF sensors could minimize the impact of environmental factors, such as reflective surfaces or ambient temperature variation.

There is also significant potential for integrating different detection technologies into a unified system. Combining ToF sensors with RF or UWB technologies could allow for greater flexibility and adaptability in occupancy detection, particularly in areas where walls and obstacles impede direct sensor lines. This integration could lead to more robust energy management systems in hotels, allowing for real-time adjustments based on accurate occupancy data.

Additionally, optimizing the energy consumption of sensors themselves is crucial. Research into more efficient sensor designs could further enhance sustainability efforts within

the hospitality industry, ensuring that the deployment of multiple sensors across a property remains viable from both an economic and environmental perspective.

For the VL53L7CX sensor the future research could focus on two primary areas of improvement:

Further analysis should be conducted to understand how the sensor performs under different lighting conditions, ranging from complete darkness to bright light, and in situations where multiple people are present. This will help evaluate the sensor's capability to handle complex real-world environments, where lighting and the number of occupants can significantly influence performance.

A detailed quantitative analysis is essential to draw more definitive conclusions about the sensor's effectiveness. Key variables that should be measured include detection accuracy, speed of detection, false positive and negative rates, distance accuracy, and the impact of varying light conditions on sensor reliability. Collecting numerical data on these aspects would provide a more robust evaluation and help identify specific areas for technological enhancement.

# 8. Conclusion

# 8.1. Implications for the Hotel Industry

The implications of these findings for the hotel industry are substantial. The adoption of advanced detection technologies can lead to significant operational cost reductions and sustainability improvements. As hotels are increasingly pressured to minimize their environmental impact, solutions such as ToF provide practical means to manage energy consumption without sacrificing guest comfort.

By automating energy systems like lighting and HVAC based on real-time occupancy data, hotels can lower their energy bills and contribute to reducing overall carbon emissions. The implementation of these technologies not only supports energy efficiency but also aligns with the growing consumer preference for environmentally friendly practices in the hospitality sector.

In conclusion, while challenges related to cost, accuracy, and environmental factors persist, the potential benefits of integrating these diverse detection technologies in the hotel industry are significant. Continued advancements in sensor technology and strategic implementation can pave the way for enhanced energy efficiency and sustainability in the hospitality sector.

# 8.2. Summary of Contributions

The study's key takeaway is that while various sensor technologies provide specific benefits, the VL53L7CX ToF sensor offers a comprehensive solution that balances accuracy, privacy, and energy efficiency. Its deployment in hotel environments presents a clear path forward for the industry to address both sustainability and operational efficiency.

Taking into account the tests performed with the VL53L7CX sensor, several important contributions to understand the presence detection using ToF sensors were obtained, such as:

The VL53L7CX sensor's ability to detect presence accurately under a variety of conditions was demonstrated, including low-light environments, validating the manufacturer's claims through real-world tests.

Valuable insights into how the sensor's software effectively reduces false positives by re-evaluating stationary objects were provided, as well as the challenge it faces in detecting motionless individuals.

It should be noted that while the sensor's performance is generally independent of light conditions, high-light scenarios could lead to slight inaccuracies due to reflecting, suggesting areas for algorithmic improvement to mitigate this issue.

It could be stated that the VL53L7CX sensor is a viable and cost efficient solution owing to its ease of operation, low power consumption, adaptability in the environments, and privacy features. Thanks to these traits, it is possible for hotels to provide energy efficient and smart designed rooms for their guests without any sacrifice on guest privacy and efficiency of the operations.

# 8.3. Recommendations

Given the findings, it is recommended that hotels prioritize the adoption of non-invasive sensors as a cornerstone of their energy management strategy. These sensors can deliver significant energy savings, primarily by reducing the operational load of lighting and HVAC systems when rooms are unoccupied.

Taking into account the tests carried out with the sensor, the recommendations are:

Algorithmic Enhancements: Develop and implement algorithms that improve detection of stationary individuals by recognizing subtle movements or physiological signals like breathing.

Reflectance Optimization: Address the sensor's susceptibility to reflectance issues in brightly lit conditions through advanced filtering techniques or calibration adjustments.

Comprehensive Quantitative Data Collection: Prioritize the collection of quantitative data on key variables like detection speed, accuracy, false positive/negative rates, and the impact of lighting to facilitate more precise assessments of the sensor's capabilities.

Strategic Sensor Deployment: Utilize strategic positioning of sensors in high-activity areas to maximize detection efficiency while minimizing the influence of peripheral disturbances.

# 8.4. Final Considerations

The results of the testing and analysis conducted with the VL53L7CX sensor highlight its potential as a valuable tool for presence detection in hotel room environments. The sensor exhibited a generally reliable ability to detect human presence and track movement. Its integration with camera feeds provided a qualitative validation of its performance, demonstrating its capability for real-time occupancy detection. However, this study has also uncovered areas where the sensor's functionality could be refined and optimized.

To conclude, while the sensor has demonstrated a solid foundation for practical application in the hospitality industry, continued refinement and rigorous testing will be vital in enhancing its reliability and accuracy. Leveraging these insights will not only improve the sensor's integration into hotel automation systems but also contribute to broader efforts

in developing energy-efficient and intelligent solutions for the smart building industry. The lessons learned from this work provide a valuable framework for future innovations, driving forward the adoption of technology that supports sustainable and efficient energy use in modern facilities.

# References

- [1] G. Ramos, *Localización*, jun. de 2014. URL: https:/%20/definicion.mx/localizacion/.
- [2] Y. Wang, "Linear least squares localization in sensor networks," Eurasip journal on wireless communications and networking, vol. 2015, págs. 1-7, 2015. URL: https://lin k.springer.com/article/10.1186/s13638-015-0298-1.
- [3] tarte20admi, *Protección Contra Incendios en Hoteles*, jul. de 2019. URL: https://www.contraincendiostartessos.com/proteccion-contra-incendios-en-hoteles/.
- [4] the World Tourism Organization (UNWTO), *Hotel Energy Solutions (HES)*, n.d. URL: https://www.unwto.org/hotel-energy-solution.
- [5] V. Garg y N. Bansal, "Smart occupancy sensors to reduce energy consumption," *Energy* and Buildings, vol. 32, págs. 81-87, jun. de 2000. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-7788(99)00040-7.
- [6] M. M. Eskerod P Hollensen S, "Drivers for pursing sustainability through IoT technology within High End hotels An exploratory study," *Sustainability*, 2019. DOI: 10.3390/su11195372.
- U. E. Department, Benefits of LED Lighting, 2021. URL: https://www.energy.gov/energysaver/led-lighting#:~:text=The%20light%2Demitting%20diode%20(LED, than %20other%20types%20of%20lighting.
- [8] S. Hall, "Fire safety statistics in the United States," National Fire Protection Association Journal, págs. 45-58, 2023. URL: https://ww%20w.nfpa.org/education-and-resea rch/research/nfpa-research/fire-statistical-reports/fire-%20loss-in-the-united-states.
- [9] L. L. Liao H Ren R, "Existing Building Renovation: A Review of Barriers to Economic and Environmental Benefits," Int J Environ Res Public Health, vol. 20, pág. 4058, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ijerph20054058.
- [10] U. G. B. Council, *Cost of Retrofitting Existing Buildings*, 2016. URL: https://www.u sgbc.org/articles/benefits-green-building.
- [11] A. Hauashdh, S. Nagapan, J. Jailani e Y. Gamil, "An integrated framework for sustainable and efficient building maintenance operations aligning with climate change, SDGs, and emerging technology," *Results in Engineering*, pág. 101 822, mar. de 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j.rineng.2024.101822.
- [12] L. Hall, How Legacy Systems Can Limit Your Hotel's Revenue Potential. 2024.
- [13] M. Stephens, *Proactively ensuring regulatory compliance for hotel managers*, 2024. URL: https://insights.ehotelier.com/insights/2024/02/16/proactively-ensuring-regul atory-compliance-for-hotel-managers/.
- [14] P. Chanal y M. Kakkasageri, "Security and Privacy in IoT: A Survey," Wireless Personal Communications, vol. 115, nov. de 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s11277-020-07649-9.
- [15] G. KA, "Our biometric future: Facial recognition technology and the culture of surveillance," en New York, USA: New York University Press, 2011, cap. 1, págs. 3-6.
- [16] L. Jia y R. Radke, "Using Time-of-Flight Measurements for Privacy-Preserving Tracking in a Smart Room," *Industrial Informatics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 10, págs. 689-696, feb. de 2014. DOI: 10.1109/TII.2013.2251892.

- [17] Q. Li, "Emerging trends in radar and UWB sensors for indoor localization," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave*, 2020.
- [18] M. Cheraghinia, A. Shahid, S. Luchie et al., A Comprehensive Overview on UWB Radar: Applications, Standards, Signal Processing Techniques, Datasets, Radio Chips, Trends and Future Research Directions, feb. de 2024. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.05649.
- [19] T. Zheng, Z. Chen, S. Ding y J. Luo, "Enhancing RF Sensing with Deep Learning: A Layered Approach," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 59, págs. 70-76, feb. de 2021. DOI: 10.1109/MCOM.001.2000288.
- [20] S. Madsen, B. Staugaard, Z. Ma, S. Yussof y B. Jørgensen, "A Cost-effective Edge Computing Gateway for Smart Buildings," ago. de 2024. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2409.0 3770.
- [21] A. Alarifi, A. Al-Salman, M. Alsaleh et al., "Ultra Wideband Indoor Positioning Technologies: Analysis and Recent Advances," *Sensors*, vol. 16, págs. 1-36, mayo de 2016. DOI: 10.3390/s16050707.
- [22] Z. Zhang, "Microsoft Kinect sensor and its effect," *IEEE Multimedia*, vol. 19, págs. 4-10, 2012. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1109/MMUL.2012.24.
- [23] D. Kumar, "ZIGBEE BASED SOLAR POWERED FOREST FIRE DETECTION AND CONTROL SYSTEM," Journal of Science and Technology, vol. 9, págs. 161-169, ene. de 2024. DOI: 10.46243/jst.2024.v9.i01.pp161-169.
- [24] S. A. Shah y F. Fioranelli, "RF Sensing Technologies for Assisted Daily Living in Healthcare: A Comprehensive Review," *IEEE Aerospace and Electronic Systems Ma*gazine, vol. 34, págs. 26-44, nov. de 2019. DOI: 10.1109/MAES.2019.2933971.
- [25] T. Prajapati, N. Bhatt y D. Mistry, "A Survey Paper on Wearable Sensors based Fall Detection," *International Journal of Computer Applications*, vol. 115, págs. 15-18, abr. de 2015. DOI: 10.5120/20211-2475.
- [26] S. Mastrolembo Ventura, P. Bellagente, S. Rinaldi, A. Flammini y A. Ciribini, "Enhancing Safety on Construction Sites: A UWB-Based Proximity Warning System Ensuring GDPR Compliance to Prevent Collision Hazards," *Sensors*, vol. 23, pág. 9770, dic. de 2023. DOI: 10.3390/s23249770.
- [27] L. Li, "Understanding the Basics of Time-of-Flight (ToF) Sensing Technology," Texas Instruments, vol. 1, págs. 1-10, 2021. URL: https://www.ti.com/lit/wp/sloa190/sloa1 90.pdf.
- [28] S. RA, "Physics for scientists and engineers with modern physics," en New York, USA: Cengage, 2018, págs. 480-485.
- [29] 2D LiDAR using Time of Flight Sensors, 2024. URL: https://fr.farnell.com/how-to-%20implement-2d-lidar-using-time-of-flight-sensors.
- [30] P. Chaudhari, Y. Xiao, M. Cheng y T. Li, "Fundamentals, Algorithms, and Technologies of Occupancy Detection for Smart Buildings Using IoT Sensors," *Sensors*, vol. 24, pág. 2123, mar. de 2024. DOI: 10.3390/s24072123.

- [31] C. Slattery e Y. Shida, "ADI ToF Depth Sensing Technology: New and Emerging Applications in Industrial, Automotive Markets, and More," 41 Understanding the Fundamentals of Earthquake Signal Sensing Networks, pág. 52, 2019. URL: https://dlwqtxts 1xzle7.cloudfront.net/82033583/volume53-number4-libre.pdf?1647028231=&response -content-disposition=inline%3B+filename%3DA\_Direct\_Method\_of\_Measuring\_Op\_A mp\_Inpu.pdf&Expires=1729160281&Signature=KfIj4SocMHKplRBv9qeKGvr7vO6S cD4Ytj3aARekApP2~ZeJcl49bCmCz0dArlLWvePETZhrMPZqCy98Vi~16vhgkgD7C1 BDP5KUGXdQ5q6j80sO34LhFloRWdczt0p1V5SZXcvok8YUlP~bZhpYynyskF4Kak-p14qqXSSWtyi0sZDsxoxIXWSmaY0gTBl0wEFJkFgmmpQBmxXn9poFBuC-NoCVO js9mlZ2TwKihQcY9kmt2h-erwCIIvUz0Mwn-RBySTt110FV8qeuGqddV9nCQAryPM fz6w3eiUcAu9zK82LYEyTPxKh13lwUfk3pf4Iz-- dqP7vbbGJfzw3Wtg\_&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA#page=52.
- [32] S. Sivaraman y M. M. Trivedi, "Integrated Lane and Vehicle Detection, Localization, and Tracking: A Synergistic Approach," *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, vol. 14, págs. 906-917, 2013. URL: https://api.semanticscholar.org/Cor pusID:263879985.
- [33] G. Diraco, A. Leone y P. Siciliano, "Human posture recognition with a time-of-flight 3D sensor for in-home applications," *Expert Systems with Applications*, feb. de 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j.eswa.2012.08.007.
- [34] J. A. Persson y R. Malekian, "Passive Infrared Sensor-Based Occupancy Monitoring in Smart Buildings: A Review of Methodologies and Machine Learning Approaches," *Sensors*, vol. 24, n.º 5, 2024. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/24/5/1533.
- [35] M. Cheraghinia, A. Shahid, S. Luchie et al., A Comprehensive Overview on UWB Radar: Applications, Standards, Signal Processing Techniques, Datasets, Radio Chips, Trends and Future Research Directions, 2024. arXiv: 2402.05649 [eess.SP]. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2402.05649.
- [36] T. Groeningen, H. Driessen, J. Söhl y R. Voûte, "AN ULTRASONIC SENSOR FOR HUMAN PRESENCE DETECTION TO ASSIST RESCUE WORK IN LARGE BUIL-DINGS," ISPRS Annals of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, vol. IV-4/W7, págs. 135-140, sep. de 2018. DOI: 10.5194/isprs-annals-IV-4-W7-135-2018.
- [37] S. Microelectronics, *VL53L7CX time-of-flight ranging sensor: datasheet*, 2020. URL: https://www.st.com/en/imaging-and-photonics-solutions/vl53l7cx.html.
- [38] C. Yang, J. Kang y D.-S. Eom, "Enhancing ToF Sensor Precision Using 3D Models and Simulation for Vision Inspection in Industrial Mobile Robots," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 14, n.º 11, 2024. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/14/11/4595.
- [39] Z. Jiang, J. Zhu, Z. Lin, Z. Li y R. Guo, "3D Mapping of Outdoor Environments by Scan Matching and Motion Averaging," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 372, sep. de 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.neucom.2019.09.022.
- [40] M. Javaid, A. Haleem, S. Rab, R. Singh y R. Suman, "Sensors for daily life: A review," Sensors International, vol. 2, pág. 100121, jul. de 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.sintl.2021.100 121.

- [41] Aristasur, *Como funciona el sistema de posicionamiento GPS*, nov. de 2014. URL: https://www.aristasur.com/contenido/como-funciona-el-sistema-de-posicionamiento-gps.
- [42] Gabriel, *Cómo funcionan los dispositivos GPS: trilateración vs triangulación*, mayo de 2018. URL: https://acolita.com/como-funcionan-los-dispositivos-gps-trilateracion-vs -triangulacion/.
- [43] G. Nepal, D. Adhikari, P. Chodon, S. Gyeltshen y Chencho, "Passive Infrared (PIR) Sensor Based Security System," *International Journal of Electrical, Electronics and Computer Systems*, vol. 14, págs. 772-778, jun. de 2013.
- [44] A. Bowler, M. Pound y N. Watson, "A review of ultrasonic sensing and machine learning methods to monitor industrial processes," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 124, pág. 106 776, mayo de 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.ultras.2022.106776.
- [45] L. Bibbo, R. Carotenuto y F. Della Corte, "An Overview of Indoor Localization System for Human Activity Recognition (HAR) in Healthcare," *Sensors*, vol. 22, pág. 8119, oct. de 2022. DOI: 10.3390/s22218119.
- [46] vijayalakshmi Subramanian, "Security and Privacy issues in internet of medical things," en Academic Press, 2023, cap. 1.
- [47] M. Villagran, "Localizacion en interiores usando redes inal ambricas de sensores," en Editorial Academica Espanola, 2012, cap. 2, págs. 4-32, ISBN: 978-3-8484-6368-8.
- [48] M. Vega-Barbas, M. Alvarez-Campana, D. Rivera, M. Sanz Rodrigo y J. Berrocal, "AFOROS: A Low-Cost Wi-Fi-Based Monitoring System for Estimating Occupancy of Public Spaces," *Sensors*, vol. 21, pág. 3863, jun. de 2021. DOI: 10.3390/s21113863.
- [49] P. Klasnja, S. Consolvo, J. Jung et al., ""When I am on Wi-Fi, I am fearless": privacy concerns practices in eeryday Wi-Fi use," en Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI 2009, Boston, MA, USA, April 4-9, 2009, abr. de 2009, págs. 1993-2002. DOI: 10.1145/1518701.1519004.
- [50] M. Ouf, "Effectiveness of using WiFi technologies to detect and predict building occupancy," *Sustainable Buildings*, vol. 2017, jul. de 2017. DOI: 10.1051/sbuild/2017005.
- [51] D. Gonzalez, Estudio comparativo del estandar ultrawide band(UWB) frente a bluetooth y zigbee, 2011. URL: http://cybertesis.uach.cl/tesis/uach/2011/bmfcig643e/doc/bmf cig643e.pdf.
- [52] T. Cheng, M. Venugopal, J. Teizer y P. Vela, "Performance Evaluation of Ultra Wideband Technology for Construction Resource Location Tracking in Harsh Environments," *Automation in Construction*, vol. 20, págs. 1173-1184, dic. de 2011. DOI: 10.1 016/j.autcon.2011.05.001.
- [53] K. Reaz, L. Muth, T. Ardoin et al., UWB Security and Enhancements, mar. de 2024.
   DOI: 10.36227/techrxiv.171085006.63940566/v1.
- [54] D. Kocur, J. Fortes y M. Svecova, "Multiple moving person tracking by UWB sensors: the effect of mutual shielding persons and methods reducing its impacts," *EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking*, vol. 2017, pág. 68, abr. de 2017. DOI: 10.1186/s13638-017-0847-x.

- [55] B. S. D. Larry L. Peterson, "In The Morgan Kaufmann Series in Networking, Computer Networks (Sixth Edition)," en Morgan Kaufmann, 2022, cap. 2. DOI: https://doi.org /10.1016/B978-0-12-818200-0.00013-5..
- [56] S. Liu y A. Striegel, "Accurate Extraction of Face-to-Face Proximity Using Smartphones and Bluetooth," *Department of Computer Science and Engineering*, págs. 1-5, jul. de 2011. DOI: 10.1109/ICCCN.2011.6006081.
- [57] N. Be-Nazir, N. Ibn Minar y M. Tarique, "Bluetooth Security Threats And Solutions: A Survey," *International Journal of Distributed and Parallel Systems*, vol. 3, feb. de 2012. DOI: 10.5121/ijdps.2012.3110.
- [58] D. Chechi, T. Kundu y P. Kaur, "THE RFID TECHNOLOGY AND ITS APPLICA-TIONS: A REVIEW," International Journal of Electronics, Communication Instrumentation Engineering Research and Development (IJECIERD), vol. 2, págs. 109-120, sep. de 2012.
- [59] A. Papapostolou y H. Chaouchi, "RFID-assisted indoor localization and the impact of interference on its performance," J. Network and Computer Applications, vol. 34, págs. 902-913, mayo de 2011. DOI: 10.1016/j.jnca.2010.04.009.
- [60] L. Sanchez y V. Ramos, "Towards an efficient identification process for large-scale RFID systems," Sensors, vol. 18, n.º 7, pág. 2350, 2018.
- [61] M. Ohkubo, K. Suzuki y S. Kinoshita, "RFID Privacy Issues and Technical Challenges," Commun. ACM, vol. 48, págs. 66-71, sep. de 2005. DOI: 10.1145/1081992.10820 22.
- [62] F. Bergeron, K. Bouchard, S. Gaboury y S. Giroux, "Tracking objects within a smart home," *Expert Systems with Applications*, vol. 113, jul. de 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.eswa .2018.07.009.
- [63] S. Farahani, "ZigBee Wireless Networks and Transceivers," en Newnes, ene. de 2008, págs. 1-20. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-7506-8393-7.X0001-5.
- [64] Z. Wei y Z. Zhou, "A Combined Filtering Method for ZigBee Indoor Distance Measurement," Sensors, vol. 24, n.º 10, pág. 3164, 2024.
- [65] A. Allakany, A. Saber, S. M. Mostafa, M. Alsabaan, M. Ibrahem y H. Elwahsh, "Enhancing Security in ZigBee Wireless Sensor Networks: A New Approach and Mutual Authentication Scheme for D2D Communication," *Sensors*, vol. 23, pág. 5703, jun. de 2023. DOI: 10.3390/s23125703.
- [66] N. Lopac, I. Jurdana, A. Brnelić y T. Krljan, "Application of laser systems for detection and ranging in the modern road transportation and maritime sector," *Sensors*, vol. 22, n.º 16, pág. 5946, 2022.
- [67] J. Zhou, "A Review of LiDAR sensor Technologies for Perception in Automated Driving," Academic Journal of Science and Technology, vol. 3, págs. 255-261, nov. de 2022. DOI: 10.54097/ajst.v3i3.2993.
- [68] L. Haas, A. Haider, L. Kastner et al., "Velocity Estimation from LiDAR Sensors Motion Distortion Effect," Sensors, vol. 23, n.º 23, pág. 9426, 2023.

- [69] C. Hewage, D. Laefer, A.-V. Vo, N.-A. Le-Khac y M. Bertolotto, "Scalability and Performance of LiDAR Point Cloud Data Management Systems: A State-of-the-Art Review," *Remote Sensing*, vol. 14, pág. 5277, oct. de 2022. DOI: 10.3390/rs14205277.
- [70] S. Hummel, A. Hudak, E. Uebler, M. Falkowski y K. Megown, "A Comparison of Accuracy and Cost of LiDAR versus Stand Exam Data for Landscape Management on the Malheur National Forest," *Journal of Forestry*, vol. 109, págs. 267-273, jul. de 2011. DOI: 10.1093/jof/109.5.267.
- [71] M. Hasan, J. Hanawa, R. Goto et al., "LiDAR-based detection, tracking, and property estimation: A contemporary review," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 506, págs. 393-405, 2022.
- [72] S. Sampath, *People counting and tracking based on LIDAR data*. Ago. de 2019. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.22181.24808.
- [73] J. Andrews, M. Kowsika, A. Vakil y J. Li, A Motion Induced Passive Infrared (PIR) Sensor for Stationary Human Occupancy Detection, abr. de 2020. DOI: 10.1109/PLA NS46316.2020.9109909.
- [74] M. Verma, R. Kaler y M. Singh, "Sensitivity enhancement of Passive Infrared (PIR) sensor for motion detection," *Optik*, vol. 244, pág. 167 503, jul. de 2021. DOI: 10.1016 /j.ijleo.2021.167503.
- [75] I. Ciuffreda, S. Casaccia y G. Revel, "A Multi-Sensor Fusion Approach Based on PIR and Ultrasonic Sensors Installed on a Robot to Localise People in Indoor Environments," *Sensors*, vol. 23, pág. 6963, ago. de 2023. DOI: 10.3390/s23156963.
- [76] F. Erden, A. Alkar y A. Cetin, "A robust system for counting people using an infrared sensor and a camera," *Infrared Physics Technology*, vol. 72, ago. de 2015. DOI: 10.10 16/j.infrared.2015.07.019.
- [77] T. Phillips, N. Guenther y P. Mcaree, "When the Dust Settles: The Four Behaviors of LiDAR in the Presence of Fine Airborne Particulates," *Journal of Field Robotics*, vol. 34, feb. de 2017. DOI: 10.1002/rob.21701.
- [78] M. Butt, N. Nasir y R. A Rashid, "A review of perception sensors, techniques, and hardware architectures for autonomous low-altitude UAVs in non-cooperative local obstacle avoidance," *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, vol. 173, pág. 104629, mar. de 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j.robot.2024.104629.
- [79] J. Vargas, S. Alsweiss, O. Toker, R. Razdan y J. Santos, "An Overview of Autonomous Vehicles Sensors and Their Vulnerability to Weather Conditions," *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland)*, vol. 21, ago. de 2021. DOI: 10.3390/s21165397.
- [80] V. Pham, Q. Qiu, A. a. Phyo wai y J. Biswas, "Application of ultrasonic sensors in a smart environment," *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, vol. 3, págs. 180-207, mar. de 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j.pmcj.2006.07.002.
- [81] D. Arp, E. Quiring, C. Wressnegger y K. Rieck, "Privacy Threats through Ultrasonic Side Channels on Mobile Devices," en 2017 IEEE European Symposium on Security and Privacy (EuroSP), abr. de 2017, págs. 35-47. DOI: 10.1109/EuroSP.2017.33.

- [82] V. Alves Ribeiro, G. Reynoso-Meza y L. Coelho, "Multiobjective optimization design procedures for data-driven unmanned aerial vehicles automatic target recognition systems," en ene. de 2021, págs. 231-256, ISBN: 9780128202760. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-820276-0.00017-0.
- [83] M. T. Buyukakkaslar, M. A. Erturk y M. A. Aydin, "A Review on Radar-Based Human Detection Techniques," Sensors, vol. 24, n.º 17, pág. 5709, 2024.
- [84] J. Ryde y N. Hillier, "Performance of laser and radar ranging devices in adverse environmental conditions," J. Field Robotics, vol. 26, págs. 712-727, sep. de 2009. DOI: 10.1002/rob.20310.
- [85] W.-Q. Wang y H. Shao, "Radar-to-Radar Interference Suppression for Distributed Radar Sensor Networks," *Remote Sensing*, vol. 6, ene. de 2014. DOI: 10.3390/rs60107 40.
- [86] G. Gennarelli, F. Soldovieri y M. Amin, "Radar for indoor surveillance: state of art and perspectives," en Conference: Multimodal Sensing and Artificial Intelligence: Technologies and Applications, jun. de 2019, pág. 2. DOI: 10.1117/12.2527660.
- [87] Y. Nishida, T. Hori, S.-i. Murakami y H. Mizoguchi, "Minimally privacy-violative system for locating human by ultrasonic radar embedded on ceiling," en 2004 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics (IEEE Cat. No. 04CH37583), IEEE, vol. 2, 2004, págs. 1549-1554.
- [88] P. Hue, ¿sensor de movimiento, 2018. URL: https://www.philips-hue.com/es-cl/p/h ue-sensor-%20de-movimiento/8719514342125.
- [89] Ecolink, Z-Wave Plus Motion Detector w/ Pet Immunity, n.d. URL: https://discover ecolink.com/product/z-wave-plus-motion-detector-w-pet-immunity-diy/.
- [90] H. home, IS3050A-SN V-Plex® Passive Infrared Motion Sensor with Anti-Mask, 2024. URL: https://www.resideo.com/us/en/pro/products/security/wired-se%20nsor s/v-%20plex-sensor/is3050a-sn-v-plexr-passive-infrared-motion-sensor-with-anti.
- [91] aqara, *Presence Sensor FP1*, 2023. URL: https://www.aqara.com/us/produc-t/presence-sensor-fp1e/.
- [92] nest google, Nest Cam IQ Indoor, n.d. URL: https://store.google.com/es/magazine/c ompare\_cameras?hl=es.
- [93] S. C. Corporation, Smart Caregiver Economy Cordless Fall Monitor, n.d. URL: https://acortar.link/ncla4A.
- [94] ouster, Velodyne Lidar VLP-16, n.d. URL: https://ouster.com/products/hardware/vl p-16.
- [95] STMicroelectronics, VL53L7CX STM32 Nucleo pack with X-NUCLEO-53L7A1 expansion board and NUCLEO-F401RE development board. URL: https://www.st.com/en /ecosystems/p-nucleo-53l7a1.